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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“Review Year").

Despite China achieving business resumption and economic rebound
soon after its speedy control of the domestic COVID-19 epidemic,
to this date, its special administration of Hong Kong is still suffering
from a semi-functional society under tight restrictions. Being one of
the luckiest cities in the world that managed to keep COVID-19 cases
relatively low throughout the whole time, Hong Kong's construction
industry, unfortunately, took a substantial hit with significantly
reduced ongoing projects and stringent rules imposed on workers,
including frequent mandatory testing and limitations on on-site
activities.

All of the COVID-19-related restrictions add to the ongoing issues
in the industry since long before, i.e., shortage of skilled labour,
intensifying competition, material price fluctuation, etc., and
have made last year particularly challenging for the construction
project contractors. For 2020, the total gross value of construction
works performed by main contractors in Hong Kong decreased
by approximately 2.8% in nominal terms, compared with 2019 to
approximately HK$229.9 billion.

The Group is primarily engaged in undertaking foundation works
in Hong Kong as a subcontractor. During the Review Year, the
Group's total revenue amounted to approximately HK$922.9 million,
growing approximately 81.2% compared to Last Year's HK$509.3
million. Direct cost also increased significantly, causing a gross loss
of HK$13.3 million, compared to Last Year's gross profit of HK$5.2
million. Such change was mainly attributable to the continuously
intensified market competition, COVID-19-related delays of projects,
and increased project complexity.
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After securing enough doses to cover all of its population, Hong
Kong rolled out a COVID-19 vaccination program in the first quarter
of 2021, providing hopes that business activities could resume
sooner. Two months into the program, roughly 20% of the city’s
population have achieved at least one dose. The construction industry
is one of the priority groups in the program, and workers could
receive COVID-19 vaccines before the vast majority of Hong Kong's
population. Numerous subsidies from the government have also
provided relief for businesses and individuals involved in this industry.
We are generally hopeful for an expected revamp in construction
industries as some planned residential buildings, commercial centres,
and office buildings are very unlikely to be further delayed, given
the solid need for housing and commercial space. On the flip side,
even after COVID-19-related restrictions are lifted, we will still deal
with the increasingly intensified competition, skilled labour shortage,
climbing labour cost, among other factors pushing the contractors’
expenses high. As a seasoned market player, we shall stay alert and
prudent.

The Group will continue to leverage the competitive strengths of
its experience in the foundation work industry and the established
long-term relationships with customers. The Group will also continue
to explore other business opportunities and/or expansion in the
geographical coverage of the principal business of the Group beyond
the Hong Kong market in order to enhance our future development
and to strengthening the revenue bases of the Group. We anticipate
that the diversification of our business will yield better returns for the
shareholders of our Company.

The past year has continued to be hard for business. Yet, | am
grateful to have a committed team of senior management who led
the Company through challenges and also our dedicated employees
who never sacrifice their productivity and performance despite any
difficulties. Together we will survive the most challenging times, and
we look forward to a fruitful future.

Yip Yuk Kit
Chairman and executive Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEERR DT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Prior to the COVID-19 outbreak, Hong Kong’s construction
industry has already entered into a downslope trend, as shown in
its 6.2% gross value contraction due to a slowdown in residential
construction and other infrastructure works in 2019. A full year
of COVID-19 pandemic had been a real setback for Hong Kong’s
construction sector. Since the early phase of the outbreak in the
first quarter of 2020, the entire construction industry has been
disrupted by unprecedented challenges regarding the availability
of resources, deliverables, on-site health and safety measures, and
project delays or even terminations. Project owners have evaluated
plans considering the risks of time extension and cost escalation;
contractors and subcontractors were pressured to secure contracts
amid such a dire state. The impacts were shown on the decline in
Hong Kong’s total gross value of construction works performed
by main contractors in 2020 according to Census and Statistic
Department, shrinking by approximately 2.8% from approximately
HK$236,438 million to approximately HK$229,870 million compared
to a year ago.

Although the Hong Kong Government has not imposed a full
lockdown on the city, the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have
been broader and more significant on the on-site construction works
amongst all categories. During the year, a number of COVID-19
confirmed cases involving construction site workers concerned the
local community severely. In consideration of workers’ inevitable
close contacts and working environment at the construction sites,
those individual sites had once been closed, and compulsory
testing was imposed on all the site workers, which has affected the
schedule of those construction projects.

Due to the continuous demand for housing and increasing
infrastructure investment from the Government, Hong Kong's
construction industry was expected to be stable over the years.
However, even though the gross value of public construction
works increased, the actual public housing production dropped to
9-year lowest of merely 11,261 units in the Year 2020/21, marking
an approximately 14.1% decline from 13,105 units of the Year
2019/20. Apart from the public construction sector, from the figures
published, the private sector notably ended with an approximately
20.0% decline of gross value from approximately HK$73,286 million
to approximately HK$58,664 million this year, hitting the lowest
since 2014. Such fall reflects the weak industry performance of the
year under the COVID-19 pandemic, despite the continuous and
strong demand for residential and commercial buildings in the city.

Given the volatility of the COVID-19 outbreaks in Hong Kong and
worldwide, it might take a longer time for Hong Kong’s economy as
well as the global economy to fully recover from market uncertainty
and gain momentum in the coming quarters of 2021. Although
the declines in the quarterly gross value of construction works in
Hong Kong were narrowed down since the second quarter of 2020,
business sentiment has remained pessimistic among the construction
industry. The industry players are still expected to stay prudent in
their business decisions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group has been operating for over two decades in the industry,
mainly engaging in the foundation works for commercial and
residential buildings’ construction. The Group focuses primarily on
providing foundation works services as a subcontractor, and has
developed the experience and capability to offer a comprehensive
range of foundation construction and related services. It specialises
in (i) excavation and lateral support works, and pile caps construction
works; (ii) disposal of excavated materials from piling; and (iii)
ancillary services including dismantling of shoring, site formation,
steel fixing and site clearance. Kit Kee Engineering Limited (“Kit
Kee Engineering”), the principal operating subsidiary, is registered
with the Construction Industry Council under the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme under the sub-register of the structural and civil
trade group.

During the Review Year, the COVID-19 pandemic has further
pressured the Group alongside the existing issues in the competitive
industry. Due to the nature of foundation construction works at
sites, it was inevitable that some of the Group’s projects on hand
were delayed amid the COVID-19 outbreaks in Hong Kong. Despite
the Group ending with a higher revenue for the Review Year, the
Group recorded a gross loss as a result of the increased direct costs.

During the Review Year, we had been awarded 10 projects with a
total original contract sum of approximately HK$406.2 million.

Looking into the future, the declining COVID-19 confirmed
cases and the adoption of vaccines in Hong Kong since the first
quarter of 2021 offer some hope for a controllable and stabilised
COVID-19 situation. Under an improved social condition, the Group
believes that a recovery in economic activities should enable the
developments in residential and commercial building construction
works, offering possible opportunities to the Group. Hence, the
Group will continue to retain its market position with its competitive
strengths and seize the emerging business opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the Review Year, the revenue of the Group has increased by
approximately HK$413.6 million, or approximately 81.2% compared
to the year ended 31 March 2020, from approximately HK$509.3
million to approximately HK$922.9 million. The increase was
primarily attributable to an increase in contract revenue due to an
increase in the number of projects with revenue contribution during
the Review Year.

The Board regards the Group's business of foundation works as
a single operating segment and reviews the overall results of the
Group as a whole to make decision about resources allocation.
Accordingly, no segment analysis information is presented and no
separate analysis of segment information by geographical segment
is presented as the Group’s revenue and non-current assets are
principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Gross Loss/Profit and Gross Loss/Profit Margin

Our direct costs increased by approximately HK$432.1 million or
approximately 85.7% from approximately HK$504.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$936.2 million for
the Review Year.

The gross loss of the Group for the Review Year amounted to
approximately HK$13.3 million, turning profit into loss as compared
to a gross profit of approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2020. The gross loss margin for the Review Year was
approximately 1.4%, compared to the gross profit margin for the
year ended 31 March 2020 of approximately 1.0%. The decrease
in gross profit margin was mainly due to (i) competitive project
pricing arising from intense market competition; and (ii) additional
construction costs incurred for (a) a project at Kai Tak in dealing with
unexpected complexity in construction sites and delay in construction
progress where additional resources have been employed and (b)
delays in certain projects as a result of the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Bt %5 B

Yz

REBFE  AEBWEREE—_ZE-_ZTF=A
=+—HILFEL509.3FE B TIENA413.68
ST %81, 2%§ @922 OBEEAETT TER
ARREBEFE @ SRR ERKEAIER 2
B N0 o

4 MR

EXeRAKENETIREBRAE —KLLD
B WEMAARBER XS  UBE RO IRIE
HORE - Ht - WEEJH O ER - A
RASENBEEIFRSEETERBE R

(B8) A& 2RI D E B DD JER
ZEBOHNT

EEEIREER EFXR
BANEEREKARBEE —_E-_ZF=A=+—H
IEFEA504 1B BB NA432. 1B EB T
#)85.7% Z [T E 493628 &/ETT °

AEBREBEFENERBOA13.35E/E7T 4
BHE T -_TF A=+ HILEFENLS52
E%%EE’J%%U EAAE DEFENEIR
RNB1A%  MEBE_T-_TF=A=+—H
JLEJ*EG%?’HJ 4)5B1.0% > EFRTREER
ROBATEHEFEZ  AABER EEBAEHRT
71 R()ATIEB EERFEEINEERA : @R
RUZEHIE B EEE SR T BIMNOE T -
EEEE B PTIEE - AR T BN B R AR
B R (b)E B EE AR E(COVID-19)5& 18 + BEX
ETIEB B -

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses, net mainly included Government grant and
subsidies, exchange difference and gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment. For the Review Year, other gains amounted
to approximately HK$15.5 million as compared with other losses of
approximately HK$925,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
other gains for the Review Year was mainly due to (i) government
grant and subsidies under Anti-epidemic Fund of approximately
HK$13.0 million; and (ii) exchange gain of approximately HK$1.2
million on certificates of deposit denominated in Renminbi.

Administrative Expenses

For the Review Year, the administrative expenses have decreased by
approximately HK$421,000 or approximately 2.3% compared to the
year ended 31 March 2020, from approximately HK$21.6 million
to approximately HK$21.1 million. The decrease was primarily due
to the decrease in the legal and professional fee of approximately
HK$471,000 for the Review Year.

Finance Costs

For the Review Year, the finance costs amounted to approximately
HK$771,000, as compared to the year ended 31 March 2020 of
approximately HK$817,000. The decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in bank borrowings for the Review Year.

Income Tax Credit/Expense

For the Review Year, the income tax expense has decreased by
approximately HK$1.7 million or approximately 171.8% compared to
the year ended 31 March 2020, from tax expense of approximately
HK$976,000 to tax credit of approximately HK$701,000. Such
decrease was mainly due to movement of deferred tax liabilities for
the Review Year.

Net Loss

For the Review Year, the net loss amounted to approximately
HK$20.1 million, as compared to the year ended 31 March 2020 of
approximately HK$20.1 million. Our net loss margin for the Review
Year was approximately 2.2%, as compared with net loss margin
of approximately 3.9% for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease in the net loss margin for the Review Year was mainly due
to the increase in revenue during the Review Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

Key Financial Ratio FEMBLE R
As at As at
31 March 31 March
Notes 2021 2020
R=—Z=—F RIT_TF

i =A=+-—A =A=+—A”
Current ratio VIS (1) 5.11Z 3.6f%
Gearing ratio BEAEBLE ) 5.1% 7.0%
Return on total assets 488 EE O 7R R (3) (6.7%) (5.7%)
Return on equity [N EEES (4) (8.1%) (7.5%)
Net profit margin Fap S (5) (2.2%) (3.9%)
Notes: MI5E -

1. Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities
as at the respective reporting dates.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including lease liabilities)
divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting dates.

3. Return on total assets is calculated as (loss)/profit for the year divided
by the total assets as of the respective reporting dates.

4. Return on equity is calculated as (loss)/profit for the year divided by the
total equity as of the respective reporting dates.

5. Net profit margin is calculated as (loss)/profit divided by the revenue for
the respective reporting years.

Current Ratio

Our Group's current ratio increased from approximately 3.6 times as
at 31 March 2020 to approximately 5.1 times as at 31 March 2021.
The increase was mainly due to the decrease in trade and other
payables as at 31 March 2021.

Gearing Ratio

Our Group's gearing ratio decreased from approximately 7.0% as at
31 March 2020 to approximately 5.1% as at 31 March 2021. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in bank borrowings as at
31 March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Return on Total Assets

Our Group's return on total assets amounted to approximately
negative 6.7% as at 31 March 2021, as compared to the return on
total assets of approximately negative 5.7% as at 31 March 2020.
The increase in negative ratio was primarily due to the decrease in
total assets as at 31 March 2021.

Return on Equity

Our Group's return on equity amounted to approximately negative
8.1% as at 31 March 2021, as compared to the return on equity of
approximately negative 7.5% as at 31 March 2020. The increase in
negative ratio was primarily due to the decrease in equity as at 31
March 2021.

Net Profit Margin

Our Group’s net profit margin amounted to approximately negative
2.2% as at 31 March 2021, as compared to the net profit margin
of approximately negative 3.9% as at 31 March 2020. The increase
was primarily due to the increase in revenue for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks
and uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group:

Industry Risks

The future development of the foundation industry and the
availability of foundation projects in Hong Kong depends largely on
the continued development of the property market in Hong Kong.
The nature, extent and timing of available foundation projects will
be determined by an interplay of a variety of factors, including the
Government’s policies on the property market in Hong Kong, its
land supply and public housing policy, the investment of property
developers and the general conditions and prospects of Hong Kong'’s
economy. These factors may affect the availability of foundation
projects in Hong Kong. If there is any slowdown (in terms of
transaction volume and price) of the property market in Hong Kong,
there is no assurance that the availability of foundation projects
in Hong Kong would not decrease significantly and our Group’s
business and financial position and prospect may be adversely and
materially affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

Compliance Risks

Many aspects of our business operation are governed by various
laws and regulations and Government policies. There is no assurance
that the Government will not extend the scope of the existing laws
and regulations or interpretation of new Government policies.
Further, we may not be able to respond to any such changes in
a timely manner. Such changes may also increase our costs and
burden in complying with them, which may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operation.
In particular, if there are any changes to and/or imposition of the
requirements for qualification in the foundation industry in relation
to environment protection and labour safety, and we fail to meet
the new requirements in a timely manner or at all, our business
operation will be materially and adversely affected.

Our executive Directors would hold regular meetings to ensure the
Group’s operations are in compliance with all applicable statutory
requirements.

Uncertainties in Construction Progress

Unexpected geological or sub-soil conditions

Prior to commencement of the foundation works, the customers
would normally provide ground investigation reports to the Group.
However, information contained in these reports may not be
sufficient to reveal the actual geology beneath the construction
site due to limitation in the scope of the underground investigation
works that can be carried out at the site and/or other technical
limitations. There may be discrepancies between the actual
geological conditions and the findings set out in these investigation
reports, and the investigation may not be able to reveal the existence
of rocks or to identify any antiquities, monuments or structures
beneath the site.

All these may eventually present potential issues and uncertainties
in the carrying out of our foundations works, such as the possible
increase in the complexity of the project resulting from additional
work procedures, workers, equipment and times required to deal
with any unexpected existence of rocks, antiquities or monuments,
which may also lead to additional costs to be incurred. Nevertheless,
in case of any significant unexpected difficult geological or sub-
soil conditions, the Group may incur additional costs in dealing
with such unforeseen conditions, which may lead to cost overruns
and may thus materially and adversely affect the Group’s business
operation and financial position.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

SR EE
BMEBLENRE AR INSEER AR
MBFBERNEE - BERBBRA TS HBEARA
EREROISFBRTBRRENEE -t ]
PR R LI G RREE - ZFEE IR
RERIEMBFINERRARAE - HEHRFIN
15 MBHARREEXBELTBBRANNZE -
ARME @ MtETEERRERERS T LR
HERREHREMEB R RARHIRE B
REEMBFHARBEBTHRE - AIBRFIEHEE
REBNEATHFE -

BN TESHERRITER - UBEAKE
LEBTHEERAERE °

W T R R R i
FABB I E R+ 1557
s E TR 28] BP—MERASERMH
HEFERE - Af - ARARIH#EITAH T
BT REER SN SHEMEATRS] - %5 R
EREER RV RABREBE T TR ERME
BAR - ERMERAEZERAEREEHINNER
LEEER  MPAERVEMFTR T N FE
ARSBAEREE - ST EEY o

DA R R A REREITIN R TIRA) /BT RE R
TREEN B ARBEMIF - TA - &8
TR ERIBEMBHRIING A - HEX Y
BRI EEMABEHE  MABBRIMNGEES
EBINKAN © SR - R IREAIBR 2 SN E A
BRI HE  AEENSEAREZSTE LR
MER MEERINKA - BB A - sk
SUNEBEBE BRI DEREATFIF
@,

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Damage of various underground service utilities
Services utilities may be laid underground or below carriageways
and footways in Hong Kong. The Group may be obstructed by those
service utilities when carrying out foundation works. There is no
assurance that damage to those utilities will not occur during the
foundation works. Accordingly, the Group may be liable to the costs
for the repair of such damaged service utilities to the extent not
covered by insurance.

Failure to Guarantee New Business

Our revenue is typically derived from projects which are non-
recurrent in nature and our customers are under no obligation to
award projects to us. During the Review Year, we secured new
businesses mainly through direct invitation for quotation or tender
by customers. There is no assurance that (i) we would be invited to
provide quotations or participate in the tendering process for new
projects; and (ii) our submitted quotations and tenders would be
selected by customers. There is no guarantee that the Group will
be able to secure new businesses from customers. The number and
scale of projects from which the Group derives revenue from may
vary significantly from period to period, and it may be difficult to
forecast the volume of future business. In the event that the Group
fails to secure new contracts or there is a significant decrease in the
number of tender invitations or contracts available for bidding in
the future, the business and financial positions and prospect of the
Group could be materially and adversely affected.

Nevertheless, the Group considers that a public listing status enable
us to enjoy several competitive advantages, such as transparent
financial disclosures, enhanced internal control and corporate
governance practices. Our Directors believe the customers would
give weight to these competitive edges when they select and engage
subcontractors for foundation services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

In undertaking foundation works, our operations may result in: (i)
emission of air pollutants; (ii) emission of noise from construction
activities; (iii) discharge of effluent from construction activities;
and (iv) disposal of construction waste. Therefore, our foundation
works are subject to the requirements of the following laws and
regulations in relation to the environmental protection.

The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group includes, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution Control
(Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 3112
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM Regulation”), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is committed to minimise the adverse impact on the
environment resulting from our business activities. In order to
comply with the applicable environmental protection laws, The
Group has established an environmental management system in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 international standards.
Since January 2017, the environmental management system of Kit
Kee Engineering has been certified to be in accordance with the
requirements of the ISO 14001:2015 standards. Our environmental
management system includes measures and work procedures
governing environmental protection compliance that are required to
be followed by our employees and our subcontractors.

As at 31 March 2021 the Group has 114 machines regulated
under the NRMM Regulation and out of which 47 machines were
exempted and 67 machines were approved by the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department under the NRMM Regulation.
In compliance with the NRMM Regulation on the emissions of
machinery, all of the 47 exempted machines are expected to be
phased out. To keep the Group abreast of the industry changes due
to the implementation the NRMM Regulation, we plan to acquire
new machines and equipment which are more environmental
friendly and are able to obtain approval under the NRMM Regulation
if applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Review Year, as far as the Board and the management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has material
impact on the business and operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-
CONTRACTORS

Employees

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises its employees as its valuable assets.
Further, in light of the shortage of skilled labour in the local
construction industry, it is crucial to maintain a competitive
remuneration package and fringe benefits for our potential
and existing employees. In this regard, the Group provides
comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain
appropriate and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general,
our Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees,
which forms the basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides on-the-job
training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career development and learning.

Customers

The Group is aware of the risk of customer concentration, and
sought to reduce the reliance on major customer by undertaking
more sizable projects for other customers.

Besides that, the Group believes a strong and good relationship
with customers would increase its recognition and visibility in the
foundation industry. As such, the Group values the views and
opinions of all customers through various means and channels,
including regular review and analysis on customer feedback.

The Group also believes that a strong and good relationship with
customers can further develop new business opportunities in the
foundation industry.

EEEFWR DT

BFAEBERIER

REBEFEE  REFSMNEREMM  AEEH
BREERKNTETEREIREIEROER - A
HUHAKEXRE N EEELEATE

BES - FF  HEBRRIEEN
TEBE

(==
AEERSREBREBEBARERRNERA
£ NHEBGREREEE - I ENEE
EENRRT AMERR - ARFRFEERR
BEREAABFINFHETELMMENLAE
2Bt E  ARERESRETE - RIS
REARSHMEEERN 2 EFHFE - JARS|
MBI EE KA ENRESANRERS - —
rmE  ARBEREESURENER  BUKE
BEHEREREFHE - KHLEEEN  AKEFIE
—HFEEEEHE - EARBFIRENS  EA K
BIMKE - NEBTTRHEERBEIINERES
ApnsaiE BRBRERNEE -

EF

AEEIRIEFPETHER  BBEFAERESH
EPHARBIAR - BRBEHEEEPHK
F8 o

AN ARERE - BEFEFRARER R E
R M ETRARAERARE - At
AEBRBIRADENRE(BRERARM LD
MEFPRE) THMATFNBEHEER

AEETEE  BEFEYFEERFOEE A
E— S RRAMEITROF GRS -

2020/21 FERE o EFKEEZERAERAT

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

Suppliers and Sub-Contractors

The Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet the Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair and
just manner. The Group's requirements and standards are also well-
communicated to them before the commencement of the project.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

During the Review Year, there has been no change in capital
structure of the Group. The Group continued to finance its working
capital with internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued capital was HK$12.0
million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
1,200,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total cash, bank balances,
pledged deposits and certificates of deposit of approximately
HK$60.7 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$72.0 million).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had pledged (i) an investment
property situated in Hong Kong of approximately HK$4.7 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$4.7 million); (ii) approximately
HK$5.2 million bank deposits and RMB13.0 million certificates
of deposit (31 March 2020: approximately HK$10.2 million and
RMB13.0 million bank deposits); and (iii) corporate guarantee given
by the Company in order to secure bank facilities granted to Kit Kee
Engineering.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

As the Group only operates in Hong Kong and all of the revenue
and transactions arising from its operations were settled in Hong
Kong dollars, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s foreign
exchange rate risks are insignificant. Thus, the Group has not
entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against the foreign
exchange rate risk for the Review Year.

During the Review Year, the Group placed a portion of its cash
reserves in RMB in certificates of deposit for interest return, and we
incurred an exchange gain of approximately HK$1.2 million (For the
year ended 31 March 2020: exchange loss of approximately HK$1.0
million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitments for
acquiring machine of approximately HK$1.7 million (31 March 2020:
nil).

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has been involved in
a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against the
Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-compliances. The
Directors are of the opinion that the claims, litigations and non-
compliances are not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements, and the outcome for potential
claims is uncertain. Accordingly, no provision has been made to the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Review Year, the Group did not have any significant
investment held, any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
or associated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 26
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any other
plans for material investments or capital assets during the Review
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER MR

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds received by the Group, after deducting related
expenses, were approximately HK$91.9 million. These proceeds are
intended to be applied in accordance with the proposed application
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus. Such uses include: (i) enhancing the construction
machinery fleet; (i) strengthening the workforce and manpowver; (iii)
reinforcing sales and marketing efforts; and (iv) funding of general
working capital. Details of the use of the proceeds are listed as

FrgRIERR

HRHEER % NEEWERNTSRIEFRE
KRN IBEBTT - XFEMERERRITERER
[RIKET 8 KPS SIE R G | — BT Sl E2 R B a®
A - ZERBREHE - (VEFTEEEMEBE : i)
BAFRAN (iR HEREHEIE  Rv)
BN—REEET - MERIBERERFIFHIIW
T

below:
Balance of  Expected timeline of
Amount unutilised  full utilisation of the
utilised up to amount up to  remaining proceeds
Planned use 31 March 31 March asat31March
of proceeds 2021 2021 2021
R-B=-F
EZ EZ ZA=t+-H
—B--F —B--F  ZEBA
P8R =ZA=t+-H ZA=t+t-B #HTHAEHE
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THET T THET
Enhancing the construction  E7t 214 2= Ex 60,311 60,311 = =
machinery fleet
Strengthening the workforce M AF R AN 19,272 19,272 = =
and manpower
Reinforcing sales and MBHEREHENE 4,761 2,564 2,197 Expect to be fully utilised
marketing efforts by 31 December 2021
BER_Z_—F
+=ZA=1+—-8#
BHBHA
Funding of general working B —REEES 7,596 7,59 = =
capital
Total @it 91,940 89,743 2,197

As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
unutilised proceeds were placed in interest-bearing deposits with
authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong Kong and
are expected to be fully utilised by 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the actual application for
the net proceeds from the Share Offer were used and expected
to be used according to the intentions previously disclosed in the
Prospectus and there was no material change in the use of proceeds.
The unutilised amount is expected to be used in accordance with
the Company’s plan as disclosed in the Prospectus. To the best
knowledge of the Directors, the delay in use of proceeds under
the category of “Reinforcing sales and marketing efforts” was
mainly attributable to the impacts of the social events occurred in
Hong Kong since about July 2019 and the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) since January 2020 on the economy, the
Company was concerned about the promotional effectiveness of
sponsoring business events and charity functions organised by our
customers when people in Hong Kong were recommended to stay
at home and reduce gathering, therefore decided to postpone
a number of sales and marketing expenses. The Company will
continue to evaluate and adopt a prudent and flexible approach
for utilising the net proceeds effectively and efficiently for the long-
term benefit and development of the Group. The expected timeline
of full utilisation is based on the Directors’ best estimation barring
unforeseen circumstances, and would be subject to change based
on the future development of market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, we employed a total of 335 full-time
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding four
independent non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of
426 full-time employees as at 31 March 2020. The remuneration
packages that the Group offers to employees includes salary,
discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the
Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of its employees,
which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also adopted a share option
scheme whereby qualified participants may be granted options to
acquire shares in the Company. The total staff cost incurred by the
Group for the Review Year was approximately HK$171.9 million
compared to approximately HK$120.3 million in the year ended 31
March 2020.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon
the recommendation from the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the Group'’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for the Review Year (For the year ended 31 March 2020:
nil).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEREER

Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. YIP Yuk Kit ( & 78 ) ("Mr. Yip"), aged 65, is one of the
controlling shareholders, the chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Group. He joined the
Group in August 1993 and is one of the founders of the Group. He
is also a director of each and every wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

Mr. Yip is responsible for the overall business development and
business strategies of the Group. He has more than 40 years of
experience in the foundation industry. In 1977, Mr. Yip commenced
his business of earthwork and air compressor rental in Hong Kong
through Kit Kee Mechanics* (G2 # 4% ) which was first registered
as a sole proprietorship. In 1986, Mr. Yip established Kit Kee
Engineering Company* (7x 52 L2 A A]) where he engaged in ELS
and foundation works in Hong Kong. On 19 August 1993, Mr. Yip
co-founded Kit Kee Engineering where Mr. Yip is responsible for
overseeing the projects and business development. From August
1993 and up to the present, Mr. Yip is the managing director of Kit
Kee Engineering.

Mr. Yip has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 February 2018
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the
terms of the agreement. The amount of emoluments paid for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to Mr. Yip is set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
of the Company’s annual report. Such remuneration/emoluments will
be reviewed annually by the Board and the remuneration committee
and he is also entitled to a discretionary bonus with reference to his
performance and the operating results of the Group.

Mr. Yip has not held any directorship in the last three years in
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas. As at the Latest Practicable
Date, he was interested in 890,000,000 Shares held through Fame
Circle (representing 74.2% of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip was not interested in any
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at the Latest
Practicable Date. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip does not have
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

*  For identification purpose
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEUNG Chun Fai ((R#X¥&) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 51, is an
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in October
1996.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management and
business operations of the Group. Mr. Cheung has over 25 years of
experience in the foundation industry. Mr. Cheung was a technician
at Fugro-McClelland Geotechnical Services (Hong Kong) Limited
from July 1990 to September 1991 and a resident technical officer
(laboratory) of Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited from December
1991 to January 1993. From March 1993 to April 1995, Mr. Cheung
worked in the Water Suppliers Department of the Government as a
technical officer. He then worked in High-Point Rendel (HK) Limited
as a technical officer from May 1995 to June 1996 and was a site
engineer at Hsin Chong (Foundations) Limited from June 1996 to
September 1996. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in October 1996 as
a site engineer. He was subsequently promoted to the position of
project manager in 2006 and was further promoted to the position
of director in 2017. Mr. Cheung obtained a Higher Diploma in
Building from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.

Mr. Cheung has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 February 2018
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with
the terms of the agreement. The amount of emoluments paid for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to Mr. Cheung is set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 of the Company’s annual report. Such remuneration/
emoluments will be reviewed annually by the Board and the
remuneration committee and he is also entitled to a discretionary
bonus with reference to his performance and the operating results
of the Group.

Mr. Cheung has not held any directorship in the last three years
in public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not connected
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any interests in the
Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRSREEEREEH

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LO Chi Wang (% & 5.) (“Mr. Lo"), aged 43, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Lo is
mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgment on the issue of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is a member of each of the audit committee and remuneration
committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lo does not hold any
position in the Group.

Mr. Lo has over 19 years of experience in accounting and finance
field. Mr. Lo’s experience in auditing and tax advisory services was
gained from his various positions in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Limited. Mr. Lo was the financial controller of Sino Grandness Food
Industry Group Limited (stock code: T4B), the shares of which are
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange and has participated in the
preparation of initial public offering project in the private sector.
Since May 2015, Mr. Lo has been working as a financial controller
of Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1446), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lo received a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honour) in Accounting
from Manchester Metropolitan University in Manchester, United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA") and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™), and a member
of CPA Australia. He has been appointed as a co-opted member of
Moderation Sub-groups under Qualification and Examinations Board
("QEB") of HKICPA since 2019 and a board member of QEB since
January 2021. Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive
Director of Novacon Technology Group Limited (Stock code: 8635),
the shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lo has not held any directorship in
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu (FRZXF) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 42, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Chan
is mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgment on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member
of each of the audit committee and nomination committee. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Chan does not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of working experience in professional
accounting, financial reporting, compliance services and corporate
finance such as initial public offerings. Since June 2013, he has been
working as the chief financial officer of CEFC Hong Kong Financial
Investment Company Limited (B8 E =& miE & BR A 7]) (formerly
known as Runway Global Holdings Company Limited (F% i BRER 2 %
AR A7) (stock code: 1520), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
from Hong Kong Shue Yan University in October 2009. He is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since March 2009. Mr. Chan in currently an independent non-
executive director of Yield Go Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1796),
and TS Wonders Holding Limited (stock code: 1767), both being
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRSREEEREEH

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun (Z=EB) (“Mr. Lee"), aged 37, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Lee is
mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgment on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee does not
hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 14 years of experience in accounting, audit,
corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee is currently
the chief financial officer and company secretary of Summi (Group)
Holdings Limited (Fx 3£ (£ &) 2% B BR 22 7)) (formerly known as
Tianyi (Summi) Holdings Limited (K (FR3E) 1R AR A 7)) (stock
code: 756), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange,
and the company secretary of Solis Holdings Limited (SF &2 MG BR
2 )) (stock code: 2227), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting
from the University of Hertfordshire in September 2006. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
January 2013 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2013. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive Director of Wing Chi Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6080), and Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company
Limited (stock code: 3616), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee has not held any directorship in
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Wa Shing ( B8 # B ) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 59, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26
March 2019. He has entered into a letter of appointment for a
fixed term of three years with effect from 1 April 2019 and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms
of the appointment. He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$180,000. Mr. Chan is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent judgment
on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan does
not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Chan, is a barrister-at-law of Hong Kong. He joined the Hong
Kong Police Force in 1986 and retired in 2016 with his last position
being chief superintendent. During his employment with the Hong
Kong Police Force, he was called to the bar in Hong Kong in 1996.

Mr. Chan graduated with a bachelor of science in pharmacology
from the University of Portsmouth (previously known as Portsmouth
Polytechnic) in 1983. He obtained a postgraduate diploma in
business studies from London School of Economics in 1985 and
further obtained a master degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no change to any information
required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the
Review Year. The Board is not aware of any information that ought
to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules, nor are there any other matters that ought
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
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Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Ho Shing (F& 5% %) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, has been
the contracts manager of Kit Kee Engineering since July 2005.
He is mainly responsible for overseeing tender process, contract
management, administration and quality assurance matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a Certificate in Building Studies from the
Morrison Hill Technical Institute (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE) (Morrison Hill)) in July
1988, a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1990.

Mr. Chan has 30 years of experience in the foundation industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chan worked for various construction
companies in various capacities. He was a site foreman at Kin Ming
& Co. (2R~ 7)) from August 1987 to August 1988 and an assistant
quantity surveyor at Gammon Construction Limited from October
1988 to July 1992. He was employed by Fanta (CFC) Construction
Co. Limited from August 1992 and later left with his last position
being commercial manager. Mr. Chan was a quantity surveyor at
Yat Ming Construction Co., Limited from July 1997 to May 2005.

Mr. LEUNG Hoi Ki (&%) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 32, has been the
financial controller of our Group since January 2017. He is primarily
responsible for the management of financial, accounting and
company secretarial matters of our Group.

Mr. Leung received a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2011. Mr. Leung was admitted as a Certified Public
Accountant in March 2015. He has over eight years of accounting
experience. From September 2011 to May 2014, he was employed
by BDO Limited, with his last position being a senior associate of the
Assurance Department. From June 2014 to November 2014, Mr.
Leung worked as a senior accountant at the Assurance Department
of Ernst & Young. From December 2014 to January 2017, he was
employed by KPMG with his last position being a manager.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

= n& EE E

BUERFEE(BRSELE]D @525 E-TZELHF
TARR/NCTIRAORKE  TEAFRERE
BFF - ARER  TRIEAREREEH -

BRICAER— L\ Ft AESEIEE L T 2207
(EHIJW’E% BEHERSERERR ISR EE
BEEZ R—hAhAZF+—ARBEEEIAE
(HIJ%@E%@IEFDE%%m REE o

RAEEHEAOFMEITELR - RIMALXEER
Al - BREEAEGIBRN S KEERREE TR
%o REEB-—NNELFENAZ-NNANFENA
BEERARRMEBETL 8- NN\ N\FTAE
—NNZF Lt ARESMRERRATBETH
RIEE : KB - AN ZFNAAREORE(RRE)
BEARARLEGER - REBEFLE -
RELB-—NMNEFLAZ-_TTERFHAEE

—IEESEAR A A TIEB =AM -
REHEEE(TRELE] 25 BZZE—+tF

—AREFAEENGRE  TERAHEEAE
EH® @A RARMERE -

REER _T——FTARGEERIARB ST
BHEEEETEN  c RAEERZT—HF=A
BRA AR - RAEEEESFERER -
REABZZE——FNAEZZ— @iﬂﬂ;ﬂ@
REB L ERERETMEHBAERA &I&E
BENHSAETE B2 — mi/\ﬂif
T—OF+—H  REEEEL KB
HHFIEReHM BT —WNE+=RAZ
—ET—tF—H" ?&54@5@%%@@%%%5‘%
F - Rig AR

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWSE

The Group recognises the importance of incorporating elements
of good corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability. The Group is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
to achieve effective accountability because the Group believes that is
the best way to maximise our shareholder’s value.

The Company has adopted the corporate governance code (the “CG
code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Pursuant to
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman of
the Board (“the Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yip was the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the Review Year. As
Mr. Yip has been assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating
and managing Kit Kee Engineering since August 1993, the Board
is of the view that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr.
Yip taking up both roles for effective management and business
development.

Further, pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the
Board should meet regularly and Board meetings should be held
at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
Owing to social unrest and measures subsequently put in place in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board held two regular
meetings during the Review Year. The Directors were provided with
all relevant information on an ongoing basis to enable them to stay
informed of the Group’s progress and to make swift decisions as
required. The Company will consider holding more regular Board
meetings in the coming year if the situation allows to meet code
provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

Save for the above deviations, the Board considers that during the
period from 8 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”) to 31 March 2021,
the Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in
the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREQRSE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

THE BOARD
Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgment. As at the date of
this report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Yip and comprised of six
members including two executive Director and four independent
non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in
this report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Chi Wang
Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) since the Listing Date. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

e the Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality and effectiveness of the Board,;

e in designing the Board's composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

e all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

e the selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board; and

e the nomination committee of the Board will report on the
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, review the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and recommend for any
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
either from 8 February 2018 or from 1 April 2019 and shall continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either the Company or the
Director giving to the other three months of notice in writing and
subject to rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have brought in a
wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

2020/21 EEHE o

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

EEERESUIHE

BETRAHE EESGCRNEZTEXNES T
BR(EZEXEZT/LEREK]) - EEEKES
THEBER 2B ERENT

s ARARAREZTIHESS
SEENAEERRS

HEEHNES

o ARRERFEZTEXNEMANXE 8%
ErEEEEEEKREZ T BEET
RREMER - i XERHBEER B
Tk~ BE&R - BEe %DE%%&HE%&EHE ’

s EZSMAZEHURAMARERA X
EEBARKEEBHRHRIBRESZS
KB Z T by

s BMEABRBEZ-FIZT(BRERELE
BREETRRUR - Fik - EEHEEE
=Bk BELR - e B MRS
T REBRABRNRERAIRESS
REMERIERE : &

s EXERFZEEMNZTIAEHNES
SHEKIFRS  EEEFENEZ LR
%Eﬁm BT EFTENEZITT(CBURARE
RITZBR  RAEEGRHETER
HEZERELY -

BAFYITES
BIFMTEREEARRERE BT \F
“ANBEHE —FE-NFEOA—BEREE
FHA=F  HERBEBEZI RIFNREEH
ZAYNCIES- =L Eﬁéﬁ_flﬂﬂﬁiﬁ%_ﬂ%
AR IERISERGR - WARBA R RERERY
AIWHE - EﬂK’ATHx?ﬂijﬁ/\t?@ E&
HBEE o

BIFATESEREFERME T ZERENES
REBERAE - KRB HE - BRRES
HEZERNMEBNTRNESTZES @ 28
BY R TESHEERARRHELZERRS °

EFEEEZRARAT

29



30

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREQRSE

Throughout the Review Year, the Company had four independent
non-executive Directors, meeting the requirements of the Listing
Rules that the number of independent non-executive Directors must
represent at least one-third of the Board members, and that at least
one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an
annual confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement or a letter
of appointment with the Company for a specific term and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement
by rotation of Directors as set out in the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association (the “Restated Articles”).

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but as
between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai and Mr. Chan Wa Shing will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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Role and Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group

and all day-to-day operations and management of the Company’s
business has been delegated to management under the leadership
of the chief executive officer of the Company.

The principal roles of the Board are:

e setlong term objectives and strategies;

e approve major policies and guidelines;

e prepare and approve financial statements, annual report and
interim report;

e approve major capital expenditures, acquisition and disposals;
e approve connected transactions;
e approve material borrowings and expenditures;

e review and monitor of internal control and risk management;
and

e declare and recommend the payments of dividends.

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, which includes:

e develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

e review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

e review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and

e review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG code each financial year and comply
with the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance
report.
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Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all
directors in relation to the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house training for the
Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and/or reading relevant
material on the latest development of applicable laws, rules and
regulations, management, financial and business issues to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The above training costs are
borne by the Company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of
the training’s records. Based on those training’s record, the Directors
received the following training during the Review Year:

EERR
ARFEREREEETREACR/BRELTAS
HHRER ©

EERIIREXERE

AAR N AESRERNLEN - FAREAR
BTEAED  RAIRERETRE B2 I
BREGBEEOTSE Ee K SE%ME
HEER - UBRNMENESHNE L - &
=1z 0] N == PN/NS V2SS i

EFAAARRRMEIRENFAER - RE
ZEBIRCE  EECREEFERTIATE
B

Type of

trainings

g

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit BEENEE Aand B
AKB

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SRARME S A AandB
AKB

Mr. Lo Chi Wang EEILE AandB
AKB

Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRERFEAE AandB
AKB

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR ST Aand B
AKB

Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREERS A Aand B
AKB

A:  attending seminars/conferences/forums
B:  reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy,

general business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and
responsibilities
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Board and General Meetings szl

The Board meets regularly with at least 14 days' advanced notice @EZETHRITEZH  UTRERFTEIHNE
being provided for quarterly meetings. For all other Board meetings, HZAV14B 2B - MATEEMEETS S &M
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors & * S EIRATNAERHER LB - EFEES
are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that is required for  TRIEEMABRE LilmoRFENSZZE -
discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the Directors to  AFEEZ AINBREEC SRS TIREZEE
be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings ~RIEHMIERE @ €HFRERNEETSXMHER
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying =EZ=€&ZRTETEHMEL38 (SR ENE
Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days before ~ BAHMEH) XL 2EE SR -

the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as

agreed.

Minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared and EEZENEEZESEENEHCHEAAAFTA
kept by the company secretary of the Company, and are open for RIMERHERRE  ARBEFERBAHEHES
inspection by Directors upon request. All Directors have access to [ e 2EEE A AIARIMESKEZ LIRS » I
the advice and services of the company secretary, and are allowed to /R B ERFSSKIMNTRFEES o

seek external professional advice if needed.

The Board seeks to maintain an ongoing dialog with the ZBEEFEBRITREASSREME Z HHHE
Shareholders through the holding of general meetings. The Board — ¥f:% - EE & RPN HATE 2 MR A& @&
and external auditor will attend the general meeting to answer AR A LI KAV REIRE - NIRE A S IHIRE B
any questions that may be raised by the Shareholders. A separate M JRHZEMAZIABIUEE °

resolution shall be proposed at the general meetings to address each

separate issue.

During the Review Year, the Board held four meetings and one  REIFBAFE @ EFSETINASH L —XIREAKR
general meeting. The attendance record of each member of the & @ MBEF S E HFECEREIIT

Board is set out below:

Board Meetings  General Meetings

attended/ attended/
Board Meetings  General Meetings
convened convened

HEESESRAE HERRASRY
HTEEEERNE FTRRAERHY

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) BENEE(FE) 4/4 1
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SRR ST A 4/4 1/
Mr. Lo Chi Wang BESLARE 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRRFHE 4/4 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TEBT A 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Wa Shing PeR 2= i 5 A 4/4 1/
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, the REIBEFEELEEAREBH  EFSLT—
Board held one meeting and the attendance record of each member X &3 @ MEEBSK E LFCHEHFWT ¢
of the Board is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HESRRE

BITERRY

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) BENTE(FE) 17
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SRARIE ST A 11
Mr. Lo Chi Wang BEILRE 11
Mr. Chan Ka Yu RRTFRE 1/1
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FRIB S 1/1
Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREERS A4 11

BOARD COMMITTEES EELER

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established three AFREEE TE  EFQCKI=—AEELE
board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Company’s SEBAQNAESHNETEHE EZLE®
affairs, namely audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), ([FZEEg]) FHZE8e((FHZEE K
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and REZZES([REBLEZEC]) - BEEEZELH
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Each board ~ H#ER FBEHIT S ANBESE YO HES
of committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority ~ &#b4E R BfE T o A B MBS Fraduh al &
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are RIEEZESHNBESE -

reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each board of committee has been provided with sufficient resources B EAZESZBZEHEEIRHETRCERETER
to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request, is able to seek & * KR AR EREAIEEEBER T SRBIE
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, atthe %E57 @ BFMBAAQFHRE o

Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, (a) making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(b) monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and annual
reports and accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and (c) reviewing our
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lo Chi Wang,
Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Review Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings
and the attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out below:
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REBEFE BEZZESRTMAGH  MEE
EEXRBHFECEFINNT -

Meetings attended/
Meetings convened

HESBERE

HITEBNH

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun (Chairman) TRB A (EE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Chi Wang EESLE 2/2
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F A 2/2
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, the REIEFEEELEEAREDL  EXELES

Audit Committee held one meeting, and the following is a summary 17—

REH  BERZEGROBEFEEAHRER

of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Review  ERFT#EATH) TYEMEMANT -

Year and up to the date of this report:

e reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 o
March 2021;

e reviewed the Group’s financial information, financial report o
system, risk management and internal control procedures;

e reviewed the Company’'s Auditors’ independence and °
objectivity;

e made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of e
the Company’s external auditors;

e reviewed the Company’s external auditors’ management letter, o
significant findings and recommendations;

e reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and e
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function;

e reviewed and discussed the reports from the Company's o
external consultant with the management; and

e met with the Company’s external auditors, in the absence of o
the management.

EHAEEBRE_T-_—F=HA=+—H
LHEENFERE

ENASEMBEN  MBEHREER R
RE TR K A EREIERE R

WE AR BZBE B MBI
REFZEARFIIMNERBMAEESR
e

EMHARRSINERBEEE L - ERER
K

o Té{/ﬁﬁi,\m BTEERKER 1B
AEt B R AR ARG R AR TRE
ERREEREN WA R RINEERE N
MRS R

EEEEANESHNBERT - BARQFINE
ZHENEE o

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Bt BEHFEEARRERY  EFSEEEXE
Committee from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report. B 2 WAL DL o
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, (a) making recommendations to our Board on our
policy and structure for the remuneration of all of our Directors and
senior management personnel and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b)
reviewing and approving our management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to our Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (c)
making recommendations to our Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee consists of an executive Director,
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lo Chi Wang. Mr. Chan
Ka Yu is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his own remuneration.

During the Review Year, the remuneration of senior management is
listed as below by band:
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FHEES
AARR-_E—N\F-A+N\BRIHFMNEES
WHRATFAEEERTRINEMBIELE - HHH
ZEEMTIEREREETRN@OREMEE
EXZREMERABNHIMER R ABA LR
VIERERNFHR R ERFRESSRHERE
& 2REFENCEXBRMREEMANIE
BEENFMIR : ROBIFATESENFHMA
E=gRMtES -

FMEZE R BT ES(AEENLE) KM
2B IFNTEE(AIRKFTAEREELEE)
MK - RRFEERFMEREER -

EELSREEENFMI2RRENEE T
8 RBEAKEFREANEENRREE - H
WEZE@MEARTEA L2 EET 8 FHM -

REEFE - SREEENHMBEI ST

No. of person

Band of remuneration N E N -
nil-HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000 7T 1

Further details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
and the five highest paid individuals is set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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During the Review Year, the Remuneration Committee held REEFEE  FWEESRT—REH  MEH
one meeting and the attendance record of each member of the ENZEB&KE HELEHHFIMT ¢
Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HESRRE

BIEBRE

Mr. Chan Ka Yu (Chairman) BRRFHE(EE) 1/1
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit BEENELE 11
Mr. Lo Chi Wang EEILE 11

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, REIBEFEEIEEARELR  FHEZETHR
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, and the followingis  T— X &% @ HNZE SR BBEFTE REEAR
a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee 25 HEfFT#E/TH TR T -

during the Review Year and up to the date of this report:

e considered the remuneration paid to directors and senior o Z2BEELSHEREBOBE  T1EE -

management with reference to their responsibilities, workload, PRIEREBFRERNEENRR - ARE
the time devoted and the performance of the Group, as well as A BB LTARINE  ZREER
remuneration paid by other comparable listed companies; EAREIRE N ;

e reviewed and made recommendations on the management ¢ Z2BEESNCEAEZLREEZRLRE
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals EENHM=REHER &
and objectives of the Board; and

e made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of o BV ITEE v HFMAESSIRERE
independent non-executive Directors. & o
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of our Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes
to our Board to complement our corporate strategy; (b) identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become our Board members
and selecting or making recommendations to our Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing
the independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and
(d) making recommendations relating to nomination procedures,
process and criteria.

The Nomination Committee consists of an executive Director, namely
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun. Mr. Yip Yuk Kit is
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Review Year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and the attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out below:
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ZEENTIEBEBEETRNQES BFRE
—REZENRE RERAK(BERE - A
BERR) YR EESHEMEREE RHER
MEFRFIEERELR  OWEABEEER
AREEFENENAL - WHBREEMAL
HEEFEIFMAESSRESR « (QFHEEL
FRTEZNBUM  RAMRRERRERF - B2
RIREREER

RELZEEH—BATES(AEENLE) KM
2BUIFATEE (AR FTAERFTEBEE)

REBEFE REZBEHTAEH MEE
EEXRBHFECEEINNT -

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HEESERE

BITEBERY

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) EERNEE(FRE) 171
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F A 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun BB S 1/1

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and reported
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and had
monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee had also recommended to re-elect Mr.
Yip Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai and Mr. Chan Wa Shing at the
forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The Auditors’ reporting responsibilities are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Review Year, the fee paid/payable to Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited by the Group, is set out as follows:

EERGEARUBRENEE

EFNERERUEASEN BRI ZEME -EF
PABRERRMBRERERTIENET -EF
W AHER BB AR ELLENELE
RERNEFMEATHEEERE -

A &) B R B AT BN A 3RS B AZ B AR
—f o
B AT =

FEBEFE  AEEEN/BNEE(EE) gt
EhEAARARNEREIIAT

HK$
BT
Audit services B R 816,500
Non-audit services IEENZ RS 220,000

The amount of fee incurred for the non-audit services represented
HK$220,000 of the service fee paid to Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited in relation to review of interim financial information. The
Audit Committee was satisfied that non-audit services for the
Review Year did not affect the independence of the auditors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its
effectiveness.

In meeting its responsibility, the departmental heads of the Group
have to complete a risk management and internal control self-
assessment questionnaires, identify and evaluate those significant
risks and confirm to the management that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and properly
complied with. The management then reviewed the findings and
summarised all material issues to the Board and Audit Committee
annually. Review of risk management and internal control functions
are conducted on an annual basis.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

MIEERRBEEENEAIEREHNP T AR
A FHR(ES) SR BT AR A R MRS
B 220,000 - BEZEZE S ENEETEN
RIS I T 5 A B R B L o

RREERAMEE
HEEHREERAANEREERNBELER
G RIRATEL AR -

ERITREEER - AEEZHPIREATKE
BREE R AEREE B HAHERES -« BB REHE &
FEANRR MAEEBHERCHENZHETE
ERNAREERRMIER - BEEHREERE
RIBFHAEEAREEBIRERESE REZ
ZBg - AREeRFEEERMREREENA

ERESTREAE -

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT



The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operation and
the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify, monitor, report
and follow up on risks that could adversely impact the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives, they do not provide absolute
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or
non-compliance.

Although the Company does not have internal audit function, the
Board has put in place adequate measures to perform the internal
audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group has
engaged Pivot CPA Limited (“Pivot”) to review the effectiveness
and efficiency of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems in relation to the financial, operational and compliance
controls, and the results were summarised and discussed with the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit Committee and the
Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy for ensuring that inside
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
Procedures such as limit access to inside information to those
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute
confidentiality agreement have been implemented by the Company
to guard against mishandling of inside information. The Company
also reminds those relevant personnel and other professional parties
to preserve confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly
disclosed.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Leung Hoi Ki, who is responsible
for facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among
the Directors, with shareholders and management. Mr. Leung has
confirmed that for the Review Year, he has taken no less than 15
hours of professional training to upgrade his skills and knowledge.
The biography of Mr. Leung is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in
this report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Restated Articles, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholder holding, at the date of
deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary by mail at Office K, 12/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2,
No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisition(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Restated
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in the
paragraph headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Restated Articles, no person, other
than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the registration office. The period for lodgment
of the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.
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Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts
to promote transparency and foster investor relationship.
Shareholders are welcomed to send their enquiries to the Board
by post to the principal place of business set out in the section
headed “Corporation Information” in this report or by email at
info@dragonrise-group.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community, the Company has established
a shareholders’ communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment community
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to
annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and notices of
annual general meetings are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(www kitkee.com.hk).

In addition, the Company regards the annual general meeting as
the primary forum for communication by the Company with its
shareholders and for shareholder participation. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend the annual general meeting, where all Board
members and external auditors are available to answer questions on
the Group's business.

The annual general meeting will be held on Friday, 13 August
2021, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the
Company at least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of the Restated Articles for the purpose of

the Listing, during the Review Year, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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INTRODUCTION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively,
called “the Group”) is principally engaged in foundation works in
Hong Kong as a subcontractor. Our services are mainly required
in the construction of commercial and residential buildings. We
principally provide excavation and lateral support works, pile cap
construction works, and the disposal of excavated materials from
piling and ancillary services, including dismantling of shoring, site
formation, steel fixing and site clearance, in Hong Kong.

The Group is committed to pursue excellence in architectural
designs with the goal of improving urban spaces and enhancing
quality of life of the public. While developing the Group’s goals, we
firmly adhered to principles of good corporate governance and had
carefully considered our activities” influences on the environment
and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social responsibilities were
also integrated into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) Report for the Review Year in the following
to illustrate and highlight our efforts and performance in achieving
sustainable development in both the environment and social aspects.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out
in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules (“ESG Reporting Guide”), with
the aim to inform relevant parties and stakeholders of our policies,
measures and performance regarding environmental, social and
governance issues. To ensure a comprehensive ESG reporting, we
would continuously take note of different ESG issues and assess
their relevance to our ESG reporting.

We have adopted both quality and environmental management
systems to enhance our services. The systems have been assessed
and certified as meeting the standards of the International
Organisation for Standardisation (“ISO”) 9001:2015 and ISO
14001:2015. To safeguard our employees and other stakeholders
against health and safety risks associated with our operations, we
are also certified as meeting the Occupational Health and Safety
Assessment Specification (“OHSAS") 18001:2007.

We pay due regards to compliance with laws and regulations that
is relevant to our Group. At the same time, to uphold our corporate
socially responsibilities, we care for our community members by
actively participate in public welfare or charity events.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

. ENVIRONMENTAL
1.1 Environmental Policies

The Group complies with its industry relevant
environmental laws, regulations, codes of practice, and
other requirements. The Group implements different
measures to avoid, reduce or control pollution where
technically and economically feasible in order to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions to safeguard
the health of both our workers and our stakeholders.

— Air pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in areas including
“construction dust” and “open burning”.

Procedures are set up to mitigate and control dust
or air pollutants emission. The procedures cover
areas relevant to storing, handling and transporting
construction materials, using tools and vehicles, and
using eco-friendly fuel.

—  Waste control: ensure strict compliance with
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong
Kong) in the handling of “general waste”,
“construction waste” and “chemical waste”.

Procedures are set up for handling and disposing
wastes, setting up and maintaining waste storage
conditions, and regulating protective gear for
personnel handling different types of wastes.

—  Noise pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in terms of “construction
time regulation” and “construction noise mitigation
and control”.

Procedures are set up to regulate the allowable time
and the specific types of equipment for conducting
percussive piling works. Measures to mitigate the
impact of noise pollution such as choosing tools
that would emit less noise, scheduling noisy works
to be further away from residential areas, schools
and hospitals, and installing noise shields around
equipment that is expected to emit a lot of noise.
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—  Water pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) concerning sewage
that would result from concrete works, vehicle
cleaning, other construction procedures, and site
canteen and toilet facilities.

Procedures are set up to regulate the discharge of
waste water into designated waste water discharge
points. Measures to prevent leakage of waste water
into non-designated discharge point are instructed to
foremen to control the impact of waste water to the
neighbouring communities.

We ensure that the execution of all construction works
complies with the relevant laws and regulations, namely,
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400) of the Laws of Hong Kong, the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Emissions

Plants, machineries and vehicles consuming fossil fuels is
the major source of greenhouse gas emissions from our
operations.

The following presents the Group’s GHG emissions for the
Reporting Year:

GHG emissions from use of vehicles
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Aspects 1.1 Unit 2021 2020
BmE1.1 By —EB-—fF —ETHF
Nitrogen oxides gram 381,188 379,013
Pt ) )
Respiratory suspended particles gram 31,424 31,382
AR AR R )
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To manage the exhausts from our machineries and to
comply with the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the
Laws of Hong Kong), all our machineries to be used at
construction sites comply with the prescribed emission
standards. Further, all our plants, machineries and motor
vehicles use diesels with sulphur content not exceeding
0.005%.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimizing the impact of its
business activities to the environment by following the
below principles:

e comply with all the legal requirements and contractual
obligations relevant to the environmental aspects
in the construction contracts in which the Group
engaged.

e reduce and avoid creating wastes.

e obtain and renew the mandatory environmental
licenses, registrations and permits.

e turning off the air-conditioning system at night or
when leaving the office.

e keeping the office temperature at 25°C in summer.

e using LED lights or energy-saving lighting at our
office.

The following presents the Group’s direct energy
consumption for the Review Year:

Direct energy consumption in total and
intensity

R - HEREGHRS

AERMETEENERRET(ER
TERE | (FEBER BB ) (BERR) 4R
BINEBENE3112E) » RFIEEE
THE AR AR HEE R THEE
BUZZE - b4 - BRIINFERE © #
BRAREYFEREMRETH1E0.005%
HILEm o

1.3 BRFEHA
AEERADBBEEATRAESR
DHEBEHHEIBNTE -

o BTYAKEMRIVEREANANA
BB EARNAELERE R
BHRE-

o RBAMERENRRE o

o MUSMBIERFEMIR - GEM MFF
QEchiz 2K

o TERESEER A = BB 2= 3
o EFHBAEREMRREAE25C -

o FEM A ZE (£ FLED & 3k 56 Bt AR ER
B

AEEREEFENERERERR
Fgn

EREEFEEHER ZE

Aspects 2.1 Unit 2021 2020

Em2.1 B —B--f et 3

Electricity usage kWh 11,544 15,711
BE TR

Electricity usage intensity kWh/office 11,544 15,711

RERE TR WA=

Owing to the nature of our operations, other than the
consumption of drinking water, our operations do not
require the use of water or raw materials. There is also an
absence of packing materials involved in our operations.
As such, the Company has not placed emphasis on the
development of policies in these areas.
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1.4 Waste Management

Due to the nature of our construction works, our major
non-hazardous waste is construction and demolition
("C&D") materials composed principally of soil. To control
air pollution during transportation of C&D materials
to landfills, we ensure the dump trucks used by our
subcontractors are installed with a mechanical cover
system which is in good service condition to cover the
dump bed containing the C&D materials. Further, all
dump trucks exiting construction sites are required to have
the dust or debris on top of the mechanical to be cleaned
S0 as not to obstruct its operation or pollute areas close to
the vicinity of construction sites.

Although we are well aware of potential pollutions C&D
materials can bring to the environment, the Group is
unable to control the quantity of C&D materials to be
disposed in a project. The required disposal quantity is
stipulated in the construction program in the construction
contract, and the program is designed by the main
contractor or the employer to the contract.

Regarding hazardous waste, the Group does not produce
any from its operations and thus consider ESG reporting
in this aspect is irrelevant to the Group. During the Review
Year, the Group had 24 projects that disposed of soil as
compared to 22 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
following presents the relevant comparison:

Non-hazardous waste in total and intensity
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Aspects 1.4 Unit 2021 2020
[BmE1.4 By —EB-—fF —E-THF
Construction disposal: Soil tonnes 2,078,907 1,623,840
BEREY - T M4
Construction disposal intensity tonnes/per construction 86,621 73,811
BEREVMHEE project
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The soil that is required to be disposed as a part of our
operations are disposed of in designated locations as
prescribed under applicable laws. The quantity of sail
to be disposed of is determined by our customers and
is otherwise proportionate to the number of projects
undertaken by the Company. As such, the Company does
not have a reduction policy that may apply to the disposal
of soil.

The main type of waste disposed of in the course of the
Company’s operations is that of soil. The Company is not
required to dispose of hazardous waste.
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II. SOCIAL . =
1.1 Employment and Labour Practices .1 BEREIER

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our priority
to ensure that the occupational health and safety of all
employees, subcontractor workers and the surrounding
communities to our construction sites is adequately
maintained. Our comprehensive Safety Management
System provides a framework for monitoring and
evaluating the implementation of our safety policies and
measures. We further strive to continuously improve our
workplace safety policies in accordance with guidance
received from the Labour Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and
development of our employees. As an equal opportunity
employer, the Group has put in place policies to ensure
that it treats all employees on an equal footing in matters
related to, among others, recruitment, promotion,
appraisals, discipline, remuneration and benefits,
compensation and dismissal, and working hours and rest
periods. An employee’s age, gender, family status, sexual
orientation, physical disability, ethnicity and religion would
not affect his career with us. During the Review Year, we
received no complaints regarding discrimination issues
from any of our stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured
that no child nor forced labour was employed by the
Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and
benefits, we continue to support and nurture our
employees through staff development and training
programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its employees
to understand important information relating to the
Group’s human resources policies, rules, and work ethics
surrounding employment. It is an essential tool in helping
to define the expectations of both the management and
the employees, and also to protect them from unfair and/
or inconsistent treatment and discrimination.

During the Review Year, there was no incidence of
labour dispute or litigation regarding compliance to the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). Save as disclosed
above, the Company complied with all relevant laws with
respect to employment and labour, and child and forced
labour.
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1.2 Health and Safety .2 BEEZE

50

The management of the Group is responsible for the
overall health and safety of employees. The Group has
been accredited with, and our policies follow, OHSAS
18001:2007 for our occupational health and safety
management system.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work
safety and provide safety training to our staff covering
topics such as our safety measures and procedures
for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works in
construction sites, risks of accidents or injuries to workers
are inherent. As such, we devised a safety management
system to govern our site workers and subcontractors.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal
guidelines which was set up with reference to the work
injury reporting requirement by the Labour Department.
Based on our safety management system, we ensured
safety and health of our employees in connection with
the use, handling, storage and transport of articles
and substances; providing all necessary information,
instructions, training and supervision for ensuring safety
and health; providing and maintaining safe access to
and egress from the workplaces; and providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.

During the Review Year, 35 incidents of work injuries
arose, which led to 5,314 lost labour days (FY2020: 10
incidents of work injuries occurred, which led to 3,059
lost labour days). The Group is pleased to report that no
fatality cases related to our employees occurred during
the Review Year.

Our safety officer and board of directors are responsible
for overseeing our Group's health and safety management
system to ensure our compliance with the relevant
statutory requirements. A safety committee meeting is
held on a monthly basis with our foremen for reviewing
the health and safety issues related to our operations.
Under the direction of our safety officer, our foremen are
responsible for monitoring on-site implementation of our
safety management system.

Save as disclosed above, the Company complied with
all relevant laws with respect to the provision of a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
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II.3 Training and Development

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital
to the Group’s success and, as a matter of policy, we
provide sufficient training and development programmes
to allow them to excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and
technical training to personal development skills and our
employees are required to attend an induction training to
ensure they thoroughly understood the Group’s safety and
health policies. In addition, the Group provides adequate
job and safety training to employees to equip them with
the required safety knowledge and work skills to tackle
situations and challenges to be encountered at diverse
work sites. During the Review Year, the average training
hours of each employee were approximately 7.4 hours
(FY2020: 6.2 hours).

lll. OPERATING PRACTICES
lll.1 Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which
governs our daily operation for quality control and
improvement meets the requirements of 1ISO 9001:2015.
Our internal policies and thus the procurement process
are governed by this standard. We maintain an approved
suppliers list set up by the board of directors. Only
suppliers meeting our stringent quality standards can be
added to the list for our purchases.

Under our policies, our Purchasing Department will only
purchase supplies from these approved suppliers to
ensure quality of our purchases. Further, with reference
to the quality requirement of our construction projects,
our project staff or the directors would also pay visits to
suppliers to communicate our requirements, while at the
same time inspect the suppliers’ warehouse to conduct a
sample check on the quality of the goods. Upon reception
of goods at project sites, the foremen are responsible for
the inspection of the delivered goods to ensure they can
meet our quality requirements before settling payment.
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For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to that of
purchasing, we maintain a list of approved subcontractors.
Regular inspection on the quality of works and progress
as delivered by our subcontractors would be performed
by our project managers. We have made it clear to our
subcontractors that compliance with the labour laws
and regulations is mandatory when handling safety and
employment matters at construction sites.

During the Review Year, the Group did not identify any
material non-compliances in relation to safety and labour
laws and regulations.

lll.2 Anti-Corruption

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences of
suspected or actual bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering activities occurring within the Group. We stand
firmly by our anti-corruption policies and procurement
practices as stated in our internal manuals which
comply with applicable laws. Acceptance of kickbacks,
commissions or any form of benefit is strictly prohibited
during any procurement exercise, contract negotiation or
other business dealings.

Our manuals also outline guidance over conflicts
of interest, intellectual property rights, privacy and
information confidentiality, bribery and corruption, and
equal opportunities.

Gift policy in our internal manuals clearly states the
required process and procedure for handling and
accepting gifts and advantages.

During the Review Year, we noted no incidences of
fraud or corruption occurring within the Group, and fully
complied with laws and regulations related to anti-bribery
and corruption.
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lll.3 Community Investment

Amid waves of the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020, poverty
rates have only gone up when Hong Kong economy
is mired in an unprecedented recession. Low-income
residents in Hong Kong have been suffering from
unemployment, food insecurity or even homeless issue
fighting the pandemic. The Group is deeply connected
to our society and seriously considers the welfare of our
local community. Although it was difficult to organize
or participate in any physical charitable events under
the pandemic, the Group actively seeks opportunities to
contribute to charity services, especially during such hard
times. As such, we sent our support to the underprivileged
communities in Hong Kong by donating to Food Angel.
Following strict safety protocols, nutritious hot meal kits
were redistributed to low-income groups in Hong Kong.

Food Angel is a Hong Kong-based food rescue
organization. It was launched in 2011 by the Bo Charity
Foundation and supported by local and international
food donors, sponsors and charity partners. It aims to
reduce food waste at source, alleviate hunger, relieve
poverty, and educate the next generation to raise their
awareness to food wastage and the importance of food
waste recycling. The organization collects surplus food
from suppliers, supermarket, wet markets, and donation
partners. It receives food donations, including fresh food,
canned/non-perishable food, oils and seasoning, cooked
foods, and frozen/chilled foods, to prepare meal boxes to
then distribute to people in need.

IV. FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will:

continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’ awareness
in relation to environmental protection;

maintain the highest standards for occupational health
and safety to protect our staff members and the
communities located in the vicinity of our operations; and

further extend our care to the community by participating
in more charity services.
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The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22
February 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability. The
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 8
February 2018.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding
company of the Group on 21 August 2017.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Review Year are set out in the
section headed “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income” on page 73 in this report. The business
review of the Group for the Review Year is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 19.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the Review Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Review
Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” on page 76.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2021, calculated
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands amounted to
approximately HK$73.1 million (31 March 2020: HK$76.4 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a final
dividend for the Review Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
GROUP’S SECURITIES

During the Review Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Group’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Review Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Restated
Articles or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 43 in this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM")

The 2021 AGM will be held on 13 August 2021. The notice of
the AGM will be published and dispatched to shareholders of the
Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company will
be closed from 10 August 2021 to 13 August 2021 (both dates
inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM. No transfer of
shares may be registered on those dates. In order to qualify for
the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates should
be lodged with the Company’s Branch Registrar in Hong Kong,
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric
Road, North Point Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 August
2021.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Review Year and up to the
date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Lo Chi Wang
Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but as
between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai, and Mr. Chan Wa Shing will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of Director’s service contracts are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” on page 20 to 26.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of
the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors confirm that neither the controlling shareholders of
the Company nor their respective close associates is interested in a
business apart from the Group’s business which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business during
the Review Year, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the prospectus of the company dated 26 January
2018, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle Limited (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 18 January 2018 regarding the non-competition
undertakings given by each of the Controlling Shareholders in
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
(the “Non-competition Undertakings”). A summary of the principal
terms of the Non-competition Undertakings is set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company.

The Controlling Shareholders have provided a written confirmation
to the Company confirming that he/it has fully complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the confirmations of the Controlling
Shareholders and were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have fully complied with the terms of the Non-competition
Undertakings during the Review Year. No new competing business
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the
Relevant Period.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this report and the Prospectus, is
set out on page 152.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director, or any entity connected with a Director, had any
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the Review Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was
a party, and in which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted or at
any time during the Review Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Review Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee recommends Directors’ remuneration to the Board by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also
looks into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals are set in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
THE ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, have been entered in
the register referred to therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the
“Model Code"”) in the Listing Rules, notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in Our Shares
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RROWNER

Number of

ordinary Shares Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature held/interested in shareholding
BE HeER

EENSE B3 Mg HERREE BETDL

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 890,000,000 74.17%

EERNESE R EE e (M) 890,000,000 74.17%

Note: The Company will be owned as to 74.17% by Fame Circle Limited.
Fame Circle Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 100% by
Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares held by Fame Circle Limited.

Long Position in the Shares of Associated
Corporation

Name of associated

M5t : 22 )35 Fame Circle Limited 5 74.17% ©
Fame Circle Limited B E X £ AR ERHE S
B o BIBEESREEY - EAERRA
#Fame Circle Limited T35 A8 E £ B B D RS

i3S -

RAEBEER G FER

Number of

ordinary shares Percentage of

Name of Directors corporation Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BEEAERER

EEHE HEEE AR 5 MHE WEBEREE fEEEI L

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest 50,000 100%

EENEE Fame Circle Limited Bt 50,000 100%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL AND OTHER
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fell to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or, who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other member of the Group:

E%J:XFH&E@%?I\ TRIE—F=ZH=t1—
CBBEEERAR Tjﬁ{ﬂﬁﬁﬂé‘ﬁi(iﬁ

E’é%’&ﬂﬁiéﬂ%ﬂ’%w%ﬁ) mAKty ~ HRRERIDE
ERETRA T RasRR - BREZES M

B IRPIFE3I52GL N E LM - SRIFIEETR
G ANRA KRB

FERRREMRKRRRRG R EE
R H e

HREEFA R-_ZF_—F=A=+—H" 75
AL (EFARREERRDTHRAR) KN
FARREIR O A RIE m%%&ﬁﬂfﬂwﬂ%XV*B%z
&3"*B%EEiE%DA$ 56 32 PAT OB 2 SROK
jﬁ&ifﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ TE?‘JTZ:’EEH\ AN
EAZIS NESAEEEMEMRKBARRRAS L
R EATIRR IR AN A EI(E10% S 0A L4 -

Number of
ordinary Shares Percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BEBEER
1Y 2 iz, HE EZERHE AL
Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest (Note 1) 890,000,000 74.17%
Fame Circle Limited B (Msr1) 890,000,000 74.17%
Ms. Yip Lai Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 890,000,000 74.17%
EE¥Rt BBz (PsE2) 890,000,000 74.17%
Notes: BiaE

1. Fame Circle is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yip. Mr. Yip is the sole
director of Fame Circle. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Fame Circle.

2. Ms. Yip is the spouse of Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Yip is
interested.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 18 January 2018 which will remain in force for ten
years from that date. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately seven years. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is attract and retain the best available personnel of our
Group, and to allow the participants of the scheme an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of
any member of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of an option
under the scheme will be determined by the Board from time to
time based on their contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The number of shares issuable under options granted to each eligible
participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme shall be
limited to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, and limited to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the
Company’s listing.

Each grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by our independent non-executive Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the option). Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates) would result in the Company’s shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares of the Company in
aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in general meeting.

The exercise price of options is determined by the Board, but shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
par value of the Company’s shares.
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As at the date of this annual report, the total number of securities
of the Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 120,000,000, representing 10% of the issued shares as at
the date of this annual report. No share option has been granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption on 18 January 2018, and there is no outstanding share
option as at 31 March 2021.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Review Year and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Review Year
attributable to the Group’ major customers and suppliers are as
follow:

Sales

— the largest customer 71.2% (For the year ended 31 March
2020: 67.6%)
98.3% (For the year ended 31 March

2020: 97.0%)

— five largest customers

Purchases

— the largest supplier 42.5% (For the year ended 31 March
2020: 19.4%)
72.2% (For the year ended 31 March

2020: 65.4%)

— five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers
or suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the normal course of business are set out in the note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The details of the use of proceeds for the Review Year is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 19 in this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed
that the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float
for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the Review
Year and up to the date of this report.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not
participate in any other pension schemes during the Review Year.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the Review Year have been
audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. There has been no change
in the auditor of the Company since its Listing.

EVENTS AFTER THE REVIEW YEAR

There have been no material events occurring after 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report.

By Order of the Board

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
Yip Yuk Kit

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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i RVR A SCTE: S

' Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dragon
Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 151, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts
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Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.14, note 4(a) for the critical accounting judgements
involved and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised revenue and costs from
construction contracts amounted to approximately
HK$922,888,000 and HK$936,164,000 respectively for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s revenue and costs of construction contracts
are recognised based on output method by reference
to the direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract. The
value of the services transferred to customer to date
is measured according to the progress certificate (by
reference to the construction works certified by the
customers or their agents). When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

These transactions require the management’s estimation
and judgement of the contract revenue, direct cost
and variation works, if any, which may have an impact
on the accounting for construction contract and
corresponding profit margin incurred, we therefore
identified such as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in relation to the construction contracts
included the following:

e understood the basis of estimation of the budgets
through discussion with the management who is
responsible for the budgeting of the construction
contracts, and evaluated the reasonableness of the
estimated profit margins by taking into account of the
profit margins of historical similar projects;

e inspected the key terms and conditions of construction
contracts and verified the total contract revenue;

e assessed and checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy
of the budgeted construction revenue by agreeing
to contract sum or variation orders as set out in the
construction contracts or the agreements entered with
customers;

e selected, on a sample basis, the construction contracts
to examine project manager’s budget of the cost
components to actual cost incurred, such as cost of
materials, subcontracting charges and labour costs,
etc. We compared the budgeted construction costs
to supporting documents including but not limited to
invoices, quotations and rate of labour costs, etc.; and

e evaluated the management’s assessment on revenue
recognised from the construction contracts, on a
sample basis, based on the latest progress certificates
issued by the customers or their agents, including the
certified contract work and variation orders, if any, and
discussed with management and the respective project
managers about the progress of the projects and cost
incurred for work performed but not certified.

2020/21 FERE o EFKEEZERAERAT

65



66

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
o RR A G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

AR EAZETE ()

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade HEEFEWRRERSHNEENTELE

receivables and contract assets

BEE

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.7, note 4(b) for the critical accounting estimates
involved, note 16, note 18 and note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets amounted to
HK$47,326,000 and HK$131,064,000 respectively (net
of expected credit losses (“ECL") of HK$1,346,000 and
HK$711,000, respectively), accounted for approximately
59.0% of the Group’s total assets in aggregate.

Management performed periodic review on the status
of construction projects and individual credit evaluations
on significant customers. These evaluations focused on
the customer’s settlement history and current and future
ability to pay, and took into account the information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
current and future economic environment in which the
customer operates.

We identified the ECL measurement on trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the significant management’s judgements and
estimates involved in the ECL assessment.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
assessment on the ECL measurement of trade receivables
and contract assets included:

e understood, evaluated and validated the design and
operating effectiveness of the controls over impairment
assessment of trade receivables and contract assets.
Those controls related to the identification of events
that triggered the provision for impairment of
receivables from construction contracts and estimation
of the impairment provisions;

e obtained management’s assessment on the collectability
of individual significant customers, and corroborated
management’s assessment against relevant supporting
evidence, including credit history and financial capability
of these customers;

e evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivities;

e consulted the independent valuer engaged by the
management and obtained the independent ECL
valuation report to reassess the ECL allowance of trade
receivables and contract assets; and

e assessed the reasonableness of management's ECL
allowance estimates by examining the information used
by the independent valuer engaged by the management
to form such judgement, including testing the accuracy
of the historical default data, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based
on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) REFZER@®
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade

receivables and contract assets
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2021 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
o RR A G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
o RR A G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

24 June 2021

Chan Tze Kit
Practising Certificate No.: PO5707
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeREkEMEEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 2 —F ——# = H=+—HIFZ

2021 2020
—B-—F e e 3
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHEL

Revenue U= 5 922,888 509,298
Direct costs B (936,164) (504,127)
Gross (loss)/profit (B8) EF (13,276) 5,171
Other gains/(losses), net Hihlzs (E518) - F58 6 15,450 (925)
Administrative expenses THAX (21,143) (21,564)
ECL allowance on trade receivables and B ORBGRIERENEE

contract assets HTEEE B ESEEE (1,071) (986)
Finance costs B & 7 (771) (817)
Loss before income tax BRETBHATEE 8 (20,811) (19,121)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfise,/ (F) 9 701 (976)
Loss and total comprehensive expense HFREERZEBEAXALE

for the year (20,110) (20,097)

HK cents HK cents
Al (il

Loss per share attributable to equity AN RIREEIFE AEMN

holders of the Company ZBRER
Basic and diluted HAK#E 1 (1.68) (1.67)

B79T 151 A2 R ZSHAMBREZT
ADEES -

The notes on pages 79 to 151 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FE IR R

Asat 31 March 2021 R —ZFE - —F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—-F —ECTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M THT FHEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - MW R 13 47,438 64,904
Investment property REWE 14 4,720 4,740
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, — AUWEEWZE - #W KR
plant and equipment MR e 420 -
52,578 69,644
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E MW FIE 16 55,180 81,538
Contract assets BHEE 18 131,064 126,296
Tax recoverable A Y B I8 2,547 2,547
Financial asset at amortised cost S AN BR Y
DRIEE 17 16,483 =
Cash, bank balances and Be - RITHEBRNK
pledged deposits [REREEEEN 19 44,255 72,035
249,529 282,416
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b EAFRIE 20 (36,330) (58,697)
Contract liabilities EHEE 18 (180) (690)
Borrowings, secured BEBEK 21 (11,387) (18,375)
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 (720) (486)
(48,617) (78,248)
Net current assets REBEEFRE 200,912 204,168
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBARS 253,490 273,812
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 (489) =
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 23 (5,073) (5,774)
(5,562) (5,774)
Net assets BEE 247,928 268,038
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

Asat 31 March 2021 R —ZFE - —F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—F e e 3
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT

CAPITAL AND RESERVE EXRfEE
Share capital (&N 24 12,000 12,000
Reserves i 25 235,928 256,038

Equity attributable to equity holders of 72 T iFH AEG
the Company s 247,928 268,038

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 EEFER —T — —F XA — 0 BHbENIRE

June 2021. S
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
REAKE RIRIE L
Director Director
EBFE EFE

The notes on pages 79 to 151 are an integral part of these £79%F 1518 2 MR ZEGA T BHRE T
consolidated financial statements. AP EIE D ©

2020/21 FERE o EFKEEZERAERAT 75



76

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

pey e B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

Share
capital
(&N
HK$'000

T
(Note 24)
(BizE24)

Share Other Retained
premium* reserve* earnings* Total
ROBE* HivfEE* RERA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEr FTExX TFTExX TER
(Note 25) (Note 25)

(ffsE25)  (BfaE25)

Balance at 1 April 2019 R-ZE—NFNA—BER 12,000 96,898 686 178,551 288,135
Loss and total comprehensive FRAEBEREZERASBE

expense for the year - - - (20,097) (20,097)
Balance at 31 March 2020 and N_E-_ZF=A=1+—HK

1 April 2020 ZE-THENA-HER 12,000 96,898 686 158,454 268,038
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZEMZ B

expense for the year - - - (20,110) (20,110)
Balance at 31 March 2021 R-B-—E=fA=+—-H#&&H 12,000 96,898 686 138,344 247,928
& The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of  * ZEHEFEEREAERANR -_ZE-_—F=4

HK$235,928,000 (31 March 2020: HK$256,038,000) as at 31 March
2021 in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 79 to 151 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 882 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

2021
—B-—F

HK$'000
TR

Cash flows from operating activities RETHRBRERE

2020
e
HK$'000
THET

Loss before income tax BrFTIS TR EE (20,811) (19,121)
Adjustments for: AN EIBEH I -
Depreciation e 13 21,508 21,365
ECL allowance on: LATRIE B MBI EEE
B

— contract assets —EHNEE 18 130 581
— trade receivables — B S REKFIE 16 941 405
Change in fair value of investment property & ¥)3% N F{EEE) 14 20 230
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - MR RERE

plant and equipment Weas 6 (770) =
Interest income FEUA 6 (337) (152)
Finance costs 7% & 7 771 817
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss P& 5 (s ) /1855 6 (1,236) 1,029
Operating profit before working capital EEEEHATKE

changes gl 216 5,154
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and B 5 R H AW IR

other receivables w,/ (1) 25,997 (66,871)
Increase in contract assets BHEEEN (4,898) (13,719)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and B 5 R EAMEFRIA

other payables CRid) /1 n (22,367) 28,196
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERL (510) (331)
Cash used in operations KERTRIR S (1,562) (47,571)
Income tax refund REFTERR - 1,650
Net cash used in operating activities AT BT HIE % F R (1,562) (45,921)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAABERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

2021
—B-—F

HK$'000
FTERT

Cash flows from investing activities RETEBRERE

2020
3
HK$'000
T

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEE¥% - #iH I 5H 13 (2,907) (28,003)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, — AUWEEYIEE - AR MR

plant and equipment X eEe (420) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWIZE - Wi RS

plant and equipment FriS k18 1,080 =
Purchase of financial asset at amortised cost B 12# $4 A 2 71| BR &9

TREE (30,831) -

Redemption of financial asset at amortised  H& B 4%:# $5 A 28 51| BR &9

cost TRIEE 15,580 =
Interest received EUFE 6 296 152
Advance to a director B =N (535) (2,029)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEBRITFIORD 19,170 1,022
Net cash generated from/(used in) R & & B e ()

investing activities B FEE 1,433 (28,858)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHAERENE
Proceeds from new borrowings KB ¥ E RN FTS 508 31 - 20,000
Repayments of borrowings EEER 31 (6,988) (5,148)
Payment of lease liabilities YNEEAE 31 (722) (3,014)
Interest paid EFLE 771) (817)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing @4&5Z&)(Bi/H), BiiE

activities B2 FEE (8,481) 11,021
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRASEEYRD

equivalents FE (8.610) (63,758)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning REFRIEE RIREE

of year B 47,649 111,407
Cash and cash equivalents at end of RERNBEERELE

year (note 19) B (Ki=E19) 39,039 47,649

The notes on pages 79 to 151 are an integral part of these SH79E151 B ZMHBHKZELREFHEHRE 2T

consolidated financial statements. Al D EE D o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE W IEHRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report. As at 31 March
2021, the directors considered the Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company is Fame Circle Limited (“Fame
Circle”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") and is wholly owned by Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (“Mr. Yip", Mr.
Yip and Fame Circle each being a “Controlling Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 24 June 2021.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™)
and the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented in
the consolidated financial statements. The adoption of
new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in
note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment property
which is stated at fair value. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the functional currency of the Group, and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousands (“HK$'000"),
except when otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge and judgment of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 REEE@m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B IS ER R GE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation 2.2 B E%E

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021 incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the reporting date. All dividends whether
received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition
profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\ﬂ-\

Bt ¥ #R R Bt X

For the year ended 31 March 2021 ZZ —

—FZA=1—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e.
only translated using the exchange rates at the transaction
date).

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2.8). Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Costs of right-of-use assets are described in
note 2.11. Depreciation commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Plant and machinery 20-30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is
set out in note 2.11.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each reporting date.

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2.5

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2.11)
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at
cost, and subsequently at fair value, unless its fair value
cannot be reliably determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment property.

Fair value is determined by external professional valuers,
with sufficient experience with respect to both the
location and the nature of the investment property. The
carrying amounts recognised at the reporting date reflect
the prevailing market conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the fair
value or the sale of an investment property are included in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15"),
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective
as hedging instruments, are classified into the following
categories:

—  amortised cost;

- FVTPL; or

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”).

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued) 2.6 @I AEum

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs and “Other gains/(losses), net” except for
ECL allowance of financial assets which is presented as a
separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets

meet the following conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in “Other gains/
(losses), net” in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s
cash and bank balances, pledged deposits, financial asset
at amortised cost and trade and other receivables fall into
this category of financial assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, lease
liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

All interest-related charges reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

RS R ISR RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

2.7

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The impairment requirements under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “"ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost,
trade receivables and contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past
events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the
future cash flows of the instrument.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

assets (continued)

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is
made between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2
category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life
of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial assets.
See note 32.4 for further details.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

2. EXEFHEBEmW

27 TREERSVNEERE®

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of
default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets
at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables,
contract assets and other financial assets at amortised cost
are set out in note 32.4.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXAS:HEHBRE@m
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)
2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets (other

than contract assets)

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit
level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.

The impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets in
the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less cost of disposal or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2.14) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 2.7
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 2.6).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 2.14). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2.6).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether
the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

e the contracts contains an identified asset, which
is either explicitly identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being identified at the
time the asset is made available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use,
considering its rights within the defined scope
of the contract; and

e the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use.
The Group assess whether it has the right to
direct 'how and for what purpose’ the asset is
used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and
any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives
received).

Except for those right-of-use assets meeting the
definition of investment properties, the Group
depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date to the
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use
asset or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-
of-use asset (except for those meeting the definition
of investment properties) for impairment when such
indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

a)

b)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee (continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will
be reduced for lease payments made and increased
for interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured
to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or
if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-use assets have been included in “Property,
plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either
operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as
an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from operating
leases of its investment property. Rental income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F 3% SRR B RE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 ZZ —

n\ﬂ-\

—FZA=1—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group, are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) to
the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable
to the equity transaction are deducted from share
premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition 2.14 WA TER

Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the
construction services and sourcing and distribution of
construction materials.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. ldentifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4.  Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services
to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()

(ii)

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised
over time as the Group’'s performance creates
and enhances an asset that the customer controls
which referred as the designated areas where the
construction work services performed. The progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services. The value of the
services transferred to customer to date is measured
according to the progress certificate (by reference to
the construction works certified by the customers or
their agents).

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When
the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
likely to be recoverable.

Sourcing and distribution of construction
materials

Revenue from sourcing and distribution of
construction materials was generally recognised at a
point in time when the customers obtain possession
of and control of the promised goods.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

(iv) Rental income

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Accounting policies for rental income are set out in
note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Government grants

2.15 BT H BY

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that the grants are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in
gross under “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

2.16 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

2.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % — —F=H=A—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)
2.18 Accounting for income taxes

2.18 ﬁﬁ SHMNETERE

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating
to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid
at the reporting date. They are calculated according to
the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods
to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the
year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are
recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or
loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as
other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither taxable nor accounting
profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 —F - —# = H=+—HIF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHBEHMEm@m)
POL'C'ES (continued)
2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

218 FTE RN ETTEE @)

For investment property measured using the fair value
model in accordance with the accounting policy above, the
measurement of the related deferred tax liability or asset
reflects the tax consequences of recovering the carrying
amount of the investment property entirely through sale,
unless the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability is
settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged
or credited to other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average tax rates that are expected to
apply to the taxable income of the periods in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences
will reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in
those years. The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEHEm@m)

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented
in net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.19 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components and for
their review of the performance of those components.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements,
a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

=

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a party, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent

of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. HAHITRKBITEBMBRE
HKFRSs ZE )

104

(i) Amended HKFRSs that are effective for

annual periods beginning on or after
1 April 2020

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group'’s operations and
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2020:
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Amendments to Definition of a Business BB BRE R EBNTR
HKFRS 3 F3R(BITA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform BB BRE R FIREERE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 FO% - BAEE
HER|E39%: 1 &
B RELERIET5
({EFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material EEQERNE SRR BANTEE
and HKAS 8 BEEGEHERIES

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the amended
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and
financial position of the Group for the current and prior
periods have been prepared and presented.

The amendments clarify the definition of material and
state that “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
the decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity”. Materiality depends on nature
or magnitude of information or both.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSS (continued)

(i) Amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1 ApriI 2020 (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
“Definition of Materials”

The amendments also:

e introduce the concept of obscuring information
when considering materiality and provide some
examples of circumstances that may result in material
information being obscured;

e clarify that materiality assessment will need to take
into account how primary users could reasonably
be expected to be influenced in making economic
decisions by replacing the threshold “could
influence” with “could reasonably be expected to
influence” in the definition of material; and

e clarify that materiality assessment will need to take
into account of information provided to primary users
of general purpose financial statements (i.e. existing
and potential investors, lenders and other creditors
that rely on general purpose financial statements for
much of the financial information they need).

The application of these amendments has had no impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

3. HRAFFIRLEITIETRBUKRE
ZE Bl (a0)
(i) AZZE-_SFWPA—HFZZR
Mz FEHBE R ZEERT
BBV BEREER @
BEBEIEAFIEREES

BEEH (BT K) EAME
5/
SASETTT -

o HEEREXNBERSIERHER
B LREETRREHREX
BERERA T

o EBRBEAMEAZEMSA
iii‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%IE)ﬂéﬁﬁﬁf’Eﬁ
MEERTE - EEAZEET A
[AIE BT E | MK AR
TR &

o BEREAMMEKAZEFREM
MBEBRREBZEAREHNER
(Eﬂﬁ‘(%ﬁaﬁﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ%m%ﬁ%ﬂ

Fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬂzfﬁ*ﬁ&}ﬁﬁ&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % — —F=H=A—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. HAHITRKBITEBMBRE

HKFRSS (continued) —%,E\IJ(ZE)
(i) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (i) EEMERMKERNEBYR
wmEER

REHEEVBREAFENNERDY -
AEBEWEEFRAE TOTRER
REMEHE METEER RS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have

not been adopted early by the Group.

g -

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related B IS I AR REBADRAAREER
amendments? 175
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BBIBHE 2R AR 2 RS
Framework® E3IR(BEIAX)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — B BRE R FIREE Y E —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2! F% - BEE F2RRER
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 HEH|E3985  EBE

M REER
R BRYH
BEEAF4HE L

BB IR AR
F165: (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BEMBREER REEHEAR 2
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint ZI0RREEGT  AEARIZEEE
Venture? 2RI 285 HERFAL
({BRTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions® BT BRE R BT R SRR
F165: (BT A) iﬁiFﬁG
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions BB BRE R i S—a
beyond 30 June 20217 F165:(BFA) AR=tTB2&E
R R
E’JZ‘H%E@
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current ARGTENE R  BEEIEARY
or Non-current and related (&5 $) BERERY AR
amendments to Hong Kong REBABRESRH
Interpretation 5 (2020)® ﬁ?ﬁhﬂ
(Z2=% 5)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies® BERSENEIRR SHEREER
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BB IR R
ERREELR
(BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? BRSEAESE  SFETAER
({BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - AR ERE16% ¥ EREE
Proceeds before Intended Use? (BRIA) EREBEATR
s siIR?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a BREERET. BEAN-BIAHM
Contract (BFIA) PR AR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS ERERBREEN  HIZ-\FZE
Standards 2018-2020? CHES) N
IR ERIR
EEYE
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common EEEEEIE R HEEGI T OE 5
(Revised) Control Combination’ (#&f53T) PBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (continued)
(ii) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

(continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Effective date not yet determined

Effective for business combinations/common control
combination for which the acquisition date/combination
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
pronouncement. The Group considered that all issued
but not yet effective HKFRSs are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

3. BRMAHEREETEBYBRE

ZE B (a)
(i) SHEMEEKRERNEBMH
2R )
g R-TE-_—F— A —Hsl 2 BREAN
IR A
: RoBo—E— A ARZERA
RS EAR AR
3 RSB F— AT EEAN
= [ HAR AT

4 A A R E

5 HIKE AR -_T—_—F—A
—H sk 2 & RBR & EFE RS
S HB 2 EBAG LR A HAE
4

E R-Z_ZTFA— AR ERBIRN
R HAR AR

7 R —FNA—Hsk 2 &IEN
FEHIRERR

BEEE - A QMR ER BN DM
ERBME RN EERREREE
S BRARA - ~AEBERBMER
BB MR ERN BB R E LR
TEUAEBNGANBHRRELE
ATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % — —F=H=A—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. FEEr{Lit R E

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are et R FIE T E R BT A5 R H At B =55
based on historical experience and other factors, including B BEREEBATHGAEEZ
expectations of future events that are believed to be RIREIH 2 TEH -

reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting judgements (a) EXSEHHIER

Construction contracts

As explained in note 2.14, revenue recognition on a
project is dependent on management’s estimation of
the total outcome of the construction contracts, with
reference to the progress certificates issued by the
customers and their agents. The Group reviews and revises
the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs and
variation orders, prepared for each construction contract as
the contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by the major contractors, suppliers
or vendors involved and the experience of management.
In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic reviews of the budgeted
construction costs by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work which
may have an impact on progress of the construction
contracts and the corresponding profit taken.

The Group recognised revenue and costs from
construction contracts amounted to approximately
HK$922,888,000 and HK$936,164,000 (31 March 2020:
HK$509,298,000 and HK$504,127,000) respectively for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of
contract assets amounted to HK$131,064,000 (net
of ECL allowance of HK$711,000) (31 March 2020:
HK$126,296,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$581,000)).

Details of the revenue and contract assets/liabilities are
disclosed in notes 5 and 18 respectively.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B SRR o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 —F - —# = H=+—HIF/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with
the next financial year are discussed below:

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets within the scope of ECL
under HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL
(including trade receivables and contract assets) based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period as set out in notes 2.7
and 32.4. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts
of trade receivables and contract assets amounted to
HK$47,326,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$1,346,000)
(31 March 2020: HK$78,377,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$405,000)) and HK$131,064,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$711,000) (31 March 2020: HK$126,296,000 (net
of ECL allowance of HK$581,000)) respectively. Details of
the trade receivables and contract assets are disclosed in
note 16 and note 18 respectively.

4. FEESTHEERHE @

AEBHRFEL G RRR - FENE
AHARFEMEERROGEFHEERER
B - RTEMBRFEEEARREER
BEMBBREEFERNHENSHER
FAEG S UNNE

(b) AT TFREMENEERR
RIEEBUBREERFEIRIE
BRI EEEEEANEZENK
HEUR S EEG T RE
AEBHEZRREHEEHENEER
(BREESRUWFEURAEHEE)E
RAEBEZELORR RTEREBEEE 2 RE
EH S - REREHR - AEBIR
BHBARES - MET R KA
AT BBHEERNZERRLEER
Bt E 28 A S (k2.7 232.4
Frgl) e R=ZE=—_—F=A=+—H -
ZSERFBBARENEENRAEG
2 Rl A47,326, OOOE%ﬁ(?Dﬁ?TﬁHﬂ{Z,l
EIB 1,346,000 ) (—E-FF
=A=+—8 :78,377,000& T » #
KrTEHA{E B A 1B R 5405,0008 7T ) &
131,064,00078 7T (FBRTEHE B E1E
BE711,0008T) (ZE_EF = A
=+—H : 126,296,000/ 7T - {1KTE
H{ZEEERE#581,00087T) - E5
JE U 3 AIELA&/\fOﬁFE’JilE“ J%&
BRI 16 KLMizE18 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 SRR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # %

nﬂ-\

—FZA=1—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

(continued)

Impairment assessment of items of property,
plant and equipment

Management estimates the recoverable amount of items
of property, plant and equipment when an indication of
impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units. Estimating the value
in use requires management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changing
the assumptions selected by management to determine
the level of impairment, including the discount rates or
the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test. The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment as at 31 March 2021 was HK$47,438,000
(2020: HK$64,904,000). Based on the impairment
assessment of the management, no impairment of
property, plant and equipment was made for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. Further details are set
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I IRaRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoDIEFR
5.1 Revenue 5.1 W&

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 of AEEREZHEBRERE B REMN
the consolidated financial statements. R o

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 March 2021 HE_ZT_—FR-_Z_FTF=H
and 2020 are as follows: =t —HIEFEBANBENT

2021 2020
:E:_$ — ? = fﬁ

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Revenue from contracts with REBIMEREERE15HH
customers within the scope of HHERNEFEHWE

HKFRS 15
Contracting revenue Y OlE 922,888 504,401
Sourcing and distribution of A R SHIREEM KL
construction materials - 4,897
922,888 509,298
Timing of revenue recognition EBEBHFEREERFE155RET
under HKFRS 15 TSR 2R HY R B
Services transferred over time e B R B8 7% B AR TS 922,888 504,401
Good transferred at a point in time A XKHBMEZNE R - 4,897
922,888 509,298
Contracting revenue =L

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over PK BEEANKEN —BREH AR
time as the Group’s performance creates and enhances R REAAEBENENITARIER

an asset that the customer controls which referred
as the designated areas where the construction work
services performed. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract.

Sourcing and distribution of construction
materials

Revenue from sourcing and distribution of construction
materials was generally recognised at a point in time
when the customers obtain possession of and control of
the promised goods.

E&ET%IE'FH HIE & E (BNIE B TR

ETRERBEERY) - T2EKED
BEESRENERDRBR LA E
BB BEREBEICERTERPZ
Rz BE  BHEE O T AR
BN IRTS 2 (BE R WS -

RIE R 7 i R

REREND %ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ’]ﬂﬁzﬁ A%
REFESERZEMR R B 12 |
E’JH%FEJ%HEW ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
5.2 Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM") has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The CODM regard the Group's business of foundation
construction services as a single operating segment and
review the overall results of the Group as a whole to
make decision about resources allocation. Accordingly, no
segment analysis information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical segment is presented as the Group’s revenue
and non-current assets are principally attributable to a
single geographical region, which is Hong Kong.

5. WEKkDIBER @

5.2 DEER
FTEEEREE((ETBEEREE])
BRATAEARAANNTES - T2
Y AR B 2 WG N 4R B A 3t B T2 AR AS
EBRRE GBS TEHAE
EEREY 2E  URERSERIELR
5 o Bt - WEZHHHHWER -

WhIEE#

MR AEEN RS RIERDHEETE
REBE—E(ES)  HALELRK
IS D BE D HIDEE R 2 BEDI -

Information about major customers EHETEEFHER
Revenue from customers which individually contributed & Bl 7= £ [ Ut 2 R 381 0% Y &P I
over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows: AT

2021 2020

—B-—-f —ECTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT THAT

Customer A BPA 656,989 341,213
Customer B ZFB 169,037 81,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I IRaRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F = H=+—HIFFZF

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 6. Hibz (&iE) - B

2021
—E-—fF

HK$°000 HK$'000
TRET TAT

Net losses from change in fair value KEMFE AN THEZEEEFE

on investment property (note 14) (FzE14) (20) (230)
Rental income HeHA 156 152
Interest income FEMA 337 152
Exchange difference, net PEN Z=%8 - /558 1,236 (1,029)
Government grant and subsidies (note) BT Bh R i BL (MF3E) 12,971 -
Gain on disposal of property, LEYZE - i R r e

plant and equipment 770 -
Others HAth - 30

15,450 (925)
Note: Being the grants received of HK$2,214,000, HK$10,667,000 M DRIREEREEFRBTFENMRET
and HK$90,000 respectively from the COVID-19 Anti-epidemic ¥ 5 2[R 581 1) BT COVID-19
Fund under the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”), COVID-19 frEmERES  EEEIRATI IR
Anti-epidemic Fund under ESS for the Construction Sector X5t EITE T COVID-19 R EE & Kk
(Casual Employee) and other subsidy schemes launched by the H Ao 1 86 5T 8.2 #18)2,214,0008 7T »
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 10,667,000757T 590,000/ 7T
FINANCE COSTS 7. BBER
2021 2020
—B--F e e 3
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT THAT
Bank loans interest RITERFE 756 731
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEEENREER 15 86
771 817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFTEHATE B

114

Loss before tax is stated after charging: BRFTEFATEEE fIBRA T IE ¢

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
TERT

=<

HK$'000
TAT

(a) Staff costs (including Directors’ (@) BIXA(BIEZEEH)
remuneration (note 12(a)) (FtzE12(a))
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other —¥He I& ARk
benefits HAbEF 166,872 116,084
— Retirement scheme contributions —RIRETEIH R 5,034 4,206
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIRA(BIEESHM) ()
remuneration) (note) 171,906 120,290
(b) Other items (b) EMIEH
Depreciation, included in: E A

Direct cost HEKA

— Owned assets —-BBEE 20,699 20,556

Administrative expenses TBFAX

— Owned assets —BBEE 91 93

— Right-of-use assets —(ERAEEE 718 716

21,508 21,365
Subcontracting charges AERLZ(GEAEERA)

(included in direct costs) 221,411 167,820
Service charges paid for machinery B SR ARTS B 25,452 15,627
Auditor's remuneration ZER RN & 1,037 1,027
Provision of ECL allowance for B S RUGRIAR G NEER

trade receivables and TEAMEE R 1E S

contract assets 1,071 986
Donation B 63 20

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I IRaRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F = H=+—HIFFZF

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

8. BRFIEBAIEBEEm@®

Note: Fff5E
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) ST (RIEEEHH)
2021 2020
—E-—F T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAT
Direct costs BHERAR 158,231 106,565
Administrative expenses THFX 13,675 13,725
171,906 120,290
/B
INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 9. MBB(ER) BIX
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in EEES$%@BQ§&§:$:—¢J}_}:?:$
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no ﬁ:ﬂ:t:\ﬁtfﬁﬁ%iﬂﬂé%ﬁmﬂ
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. O R & P R R AR AR BB AIE R

B -

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNETHEE
— Current tax — RNEATHIE
— Over provision in respect of prior years — B 4F [Z iREERHE

2021
—E_—F

HK$°000
TRT

2020
—Z-FF

HK$'000
TAT

— Deferred tax (income)/expense —BERIEMA),FX
(note 23) (FfF5E23) (701) 976
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year ERFIEH (HFE ), Fx (701) 976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 9. FIBH(ER) FXw@

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before BREBEGEERREMEENER - FAN
income tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and THERRR PSR BB EBR AN T -

other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-THE

HK$"000 HK$'000
TRT TAT

Loss before income tax B PTISER R E 1R (20,811) (19,121)

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rates of & BFISHFE16.5%

16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (ZE=_FZF :16.5%)
FTERTIE (3.434) (3,155)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses R H0Fk A S MR 75 72 2 853 2,069
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERBBMANRBEZE (2,527) (26)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR IERTHIEE B TE IS 2 4,430 1,795
Tax effect of prior year difference RBPFFEEENRIEE

recognised - 300
Others Efth (23) (7)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRFEH (K R), X (701) 976

10. DIVIDENDS 10. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 BE SR -_T_TF=R=+—
March 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed AIEFE  ARREZUED S ERK
since the end of the reporting period. EMARE - BIREHARAR - IREREE

IRFHEAIBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I IRaRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

11. LOSS PER SHARE 1. BREE
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to equity RARERFE AELRSREREBEIZI
holders of the Company is based on the following: TEEGE
2021 2020
—E-—& —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Loss [E )
Loss for the year attributable to equity AR BlfEZEIE A ARG
holders of the Company FREE (20,110) (20,097)
‘000 ‘000
F® &
Number of shares RHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary @& INHEFIHE(HIzE24)
shares (note 24) 1,200,000 1,200,000
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the BE_Z_—FR_ZB-_TF=A=+—
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 and therefore, diluted AIFFETEASEEZ HINEEER - At
loss per share equals to basic loss per share. EREEBEEESNEREREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EENESTHAEMEERA R

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEaMEAL

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERBESTHAEME
Emoluments of the directors and chief executive disclosed BEEMHRI - FERAKEGE
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong 3BMERAT(HBEESFmER)
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies RAL 2 EBENEERERTEAE
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) MW

Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Fees and benefits bonuses contributions Total

A4 g |

e EAg  BERA K st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Thr Thr Thr Thr Thr

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-2--£Zh=1-R
LFE

Executive directors: PTES:

Mr. Yip Era - 876 63 18 957

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RiFBLA - 846 69 18 933

Independent non-executive directors: BV IFHTES :

Mr. Lo Chi Wang FRLEE 180 - - - 180

Mr. Chan Ka Yu RETRE 180 - - - 180

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TEBEE 180 - - - 180

Mr. Chan Wa Shing (note (i) Bz s A (FEG) 180 - - - 180
720 1,722 132 36 2,610

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-S-ZE=R=1-AH

LLEE

Executive directors: H1ES

Mr. Yip -l - 756 63 18 837

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RiRELE - 794 69 18 881

Independent non-executive directors: BV IEH{TES :

Mr. Lo Chi Wang BRIk 180 - - - 180

Mr. Chan Ka Yu RETAE 180 - - - 180

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEBLE 180 - - - 180

Mr. Chan Wa Shing (note (i) TREE RS A () 180 = = = 180
720 1,550 132 36 2,438

Note: Fi3E

(i)  Appointed on 1 April 2019. () RZZE-—NFHA—BEZF-
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e ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F = —#F = =+—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EENESTHAEMEEA R
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID Ea€ATwm

INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)
(continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2020: nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 included
two (2020: two) directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in note 12(a). The aggregate emoluments in
respect of the remaining three (2020: three) individuals
are as follows:

EERESTHRAEMES @

HE-_ZT-_—FR-_ZE-_ZTF=H
Z+—ALFE AEEYER LT
EEYMNEMME  (EAMNBAREER
A DN BR AN 52 [ B ) SR B s B B 1 o

F NI B T 5 R ER o R B DR A (A A
SR (ZT_TF &) -

EEBRESMEAL

HE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HBLLF
B AEELERSHEALEEM
FER(ZT-_TF - MEBESE) H
P& W ERKTE12() - EB=Z (=T
“ERE ZH)ATHMeeENT ¢

2021 2020
:3:—#1 — 7 —= E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT T
Salaries, fee and allowances e e KRR 2,578 2,287
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT 198 192
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIR R 54 54
2,830 2,533

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BesENT

Emolument bands: & E -
HK$nil — HK$ 1,000,000 T IT %2 1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,00078 7T

Number of individuals

2020
_7_7ﬁ5
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFZF

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% - EERERE

120

Furniture,
LPATEIEN Plant and Motor  Right-of-use
equipment machinery vehicles assets Total
B
EE£E
k&t KE R AE ERREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THL
Cost R
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—A 1,161 109,204 8,388 1,193 119,946
Additions NE — 28,003 - - 28,003
At 31 March 2020 RZZZT4F
=A=t—-H 1,161 137,207 8,388 1,193 147,949
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZFMA—H 1,161 137,207 8,388 1,193 147,949
Additions B - 1,630 1,277 - 2,907
Disposals HE - (270) (431) - (701)
Reassessment of lease  EFTEHETA(BHEE)
term (note) - - - 1,445 1,445
At 31 March 2021 R=B=-%
=RA=+-H 1,161 138,567 9,234 2,638 151,600
Accumulated ZitE
depreciation
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—H (916) (54,171) (6,593) = (61,680)
Charge for the year FRLH (93) (19,811) (745) (716) (21,365)
At 31 March 2020 RZZZTEF
EfE—E (1,009) (73,982) (7,338) (716) (83,045)
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZFMA—H (1,009) (73,982) (7,338) (716) (83,045)
Charge for the year FERLH 91) (19,838) (861) (718) (21,508)
Depreciation written back i &EREEHHTE
upon disposals - 72 319 - 391
At 31 March 2021 R=B=-%
=HA=+-H (1,100) (93,748) (7,880) (1,434) (104,162)
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2021 R-B=-f
=== 61 44,819 1,354 1,204 47,438
At 31 March 2020 RZZZT4F
=B=+—-H 152 63,225 1,050 477 64,904

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2 —F - —F = HA=+—HIFEF

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has renewed the
lease arrangement for office premise with a remaining lease term of
20.6 months for an additional period after the end of the original lease
term. No option to renew the lease after the end of the contract. The
Group makes fixed payments during the contract period.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s right-
of-use assets in relation to the office premise is HK$ 1,204,000
(2020: HK$477,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position can be summarised
as follows:

13.

14.

W - BHRERE®
Bt -

RBE-—Z-—F=A=+—HILFE ' F5H
EETRAEMENEE LY WERBEBRSE
REEER IR - R THER206MEA - K&
WEwE  WESEEENERE - AEERES
HWEIAREREERRK -

R-T=—F=A=+—R AEEHA

EMERNFEHAEEENRMAER,204,000
BT (ZE T4 : 477,000567T) °

BREMZE

e MEARRRAT 25 BREE 2 & 8 AT
PNy

2021
—E-—F

2020
—T-TF
HK$'000
FHT

HK$'000
FERT

Carrying amount at 1 April R A—BREREE 4,740 4,970
Changes in fair value of investment RIERERNRENEN DT EED
property recognised in profit or loss (20) (230)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HBHRAE 4,720 4,740
2020/ FERE o HEEEERERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14. REMZE @

Fair value measurement of investment property REMENAFLETE

The following table shows the Group’s investment property TRINTGEEMBRARAAEBHIRE

measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of MEREEHEEEAANTERFE 9 R=

financial position on a recurring basis, categorised into three BATEER BHRSHENTENEA
levels of a fair value hierarchy. The levels are based on the R B REERE - FHE0T -
observability and significance of inputs to the measurements, as

follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets Ea HREERBERERTS
for identical assets and liabilities. BB CRACREE) -

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included FE: BEESBERE—EBRaRE
within Level 1 that are observable for the B ¥R (B LA SN B 52 2k fH 32 P] B
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, R ASE - WNMERE
and not using significant unobservable RIATERR I ABUR -
inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset E=E: BEENBENEATAEE
or liability. B A BUE o

2021 2020
- =
Level 3 Level 3

$£=fE E=[E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAT

Recurring fair value measurement &EEMATEFE
Investment property: EME -
Residential property in Hong Kong BENEEDE 4,720 4,740
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment
property (continued)

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The investment property was revalued by independent qualified
valuers as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, who have the relevant
experience in the location and category of property being
valued. There was no change to the valuation techniques
during the year.

Set out below are information about the fair value of

investment property categorised under Level 3 fair value
hierarchy:

Valuation

technique input

fhER

Investment property:

REWE :

Unobservable

LR 23PN ¢

14. BEWE@w

BREYWENDAFETE@®

ﬁ:?:_ = __EE&— = _z{izﬂ E+_
HIEFE SIEESEAREHRE=FE -

R-B_—FfR_F_FF=A=+—
B REMELB LS ERMGEECHAE
EMENER RGN AR MRRR)ER -
FA - HERTHTEZE -

ATEHINEBBREBEE=ZERAFESZEOE
IR EME R TENER

Range of unobservable input
TUBRENAHBNEER
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—E——fF —E-TF
EFEr=E

— Residential property Income capitalisation

approach

Market yearly rental rate HK$459 HK$432
taking into account per per
of individual factors square feet square feet
such as location,
environment, age,
accessibility, floor, size,
etc.

ik rsEitkAG PN
VE  R% - EE -
X BE HEF
[EVESES)

—fEEYE WABRETTA BFAR

45958 T

SR
43287T

Capitalisation rate of 2.9% 3.1%
reversionary income

EHRWBAEAR(LE 2.9% 3.1%

2020/21 FERE o EFEEERBRAAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment

property (continued)

The fair value of the residential investment property in Hong
Kong are determined using income capitalisation approach by
capitalisation of future rental, which largely use unobservable
inputs (e.g. market yearly rental rate, capitalisation rate,
etc.) and taking into account the significant adjustment on
term yield to account for the risk upon reversionary and the
estimation in vacancy rate after expiry of current lease. In the
valuation, the capitalisation rate adopted is by reference to
the yield rates observed by the valuer for similar properties
in the locality and adjusted for the valuer's knowledge of
factors specific to the respective properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the future rental and

negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of the investment property is recognised
in the line item 'Other gains/(losses), net’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group's borrowings and banking facilities are secured
by the investment property with carrying amount of
HK$4,720,000 (2020: HK$4,740,000) as at 31 March 2021

(note 21).

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

14. REWZE @)

BREVMENDIFETE@®

FEREEREVENRTFEFRBRAERN
EEBBEARKREEEMEMERE © =
ZERAIABRGARE(NMEEFE
& BAMERE)  UERBFEH RS
RMEXAR(NARERRNAR) RRTT
MHfERREEERNME - EHER
PRI B X2 E L EMLE R
UMEFRERINKREE - WRIFMAER
HEENERERRNTHETHAE - 2
FEFERERKRESZ2EAR  BEANL
REZRMH -

BREMERFERAEFAGABRELEM
EEMERI Eidkas (BE) - FE] -

REBMERRBRITRE TIARE Y HEE
B HEREMER T -_—F=A
=+ —HMEREEA4,720,0008 T (=ZF
ZT4E 1 4,740,000/ 7T) (MiEE21) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F = H=+—HIFFZF

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. RF B 2 B RVER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 and RZEBEZ—FR_ZE_FF=A=+—
2020 are as follows: H  xZWBAFFBERT
Place of Issued and Equity interest
incorporation/ Type of paid up capital/ attributable
Company name establishment legal entity Registered capital to the Group Principal activities
EMRL, ERTRAR KN L]
DEEMH o EAERRE BA/ERER EfE R 2 FEXK
2021 2020
“BC-f —Z-EZF
Directly held
BERE
Richer Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 350,000 ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Richer Ventures Limited RERZEE  ARRF 350,000 BREE 100% 100% HEEKR
1RTTHE R
Top Growth Ventures Limited  The BVI Limited liability 50,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Top Growth Ventures Limited ZRBEXHES HRAHA 50,0008 AR EE 100% 100% REEK
1RTEE B
Indirectly held
EiEESE)
Kit Kee Engineering Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability 300,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Undertaking
company shares foundation works
in Hong Kong
A LRRERAR BB ARAT 300,0008% & A% 100% 100% FEEBRENETR
Dragon Rise Asia Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Trading of construction
company shares material
EATNESERAT B BRAR 10,0008k & @Ak 100% 100% EBEREMH
Dragon Rise Investment Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
Limited company shares
Dragon Rise Investment Bt BRAR 10,000/ & &% 100% 100% &R
Limited
Dragon Rise Investment PRC Limited liability ~ Registered capital of 100% - Inactive
Limited (note (a)) company RMB 5,000,000
ERERREBRAF e BRAT ARHS5,000,00070 100% - TER
(MizE@) HEMER
Note: FI5E
(@) Dragon Rise Investment Limited was established and incorporated (@) BEREAZEBRATNR-_ZT_ZTFHA
on 20 May 2020 in the PRC. Z+ BEFR BT ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. B 5 Kk H B K IR
2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-THE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Trade receivables =) L e
— from third parties —REE=H €) 48,672 78,782
Less: ECL allowance W BHEEEERE (1,346) (405)
47,326 78,377
Deposit, prepayment and other & - ENRIER EMEK
receivables ;A
Other receivables H b FE Y RIR 347 428
Prepayment (note) TaftFRIE (fEE) 4,683 444
Utility and other deposits PNRAFHEEREMES 150 150
Amount due from a director W —ZEEHIA (b) 2,564 2,029
Amount due from the ultimate FEMIERAR AR A B 508
holding company (b) 110 110
7,854 3,161
55,180 81,538
Note: BifsE
As at 31 March 2021, prepayment mainly represents payment for RZBZ—F=A=+—H  BENREZZIE
purchasing materials of HK$4,295,000 (2020: nil). 88 B M BT R FRIE4,295,0008 T (Z 2 =8
) o
The directors of the Group consider that the fair values of trade AEEEERA  BARZEEBKEFRNBE
and other receivables are not materially different from their FTEEEERE - B 5 R E A EWEIE
carrying amounts, because their balances have short maturity AT EEERAETERENESR -

periods on their inception.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a) Trade receivables

The Group usually provides customers with a credit term
of 28 to 45 days (2020: 28 to 45 days). For the settlement
of trade receivables from provision of construction
services, the Group usually reaches an agreement on
the term of each payment with the customer by taking
into account of factors such as, among other things, the
credit history of the customer, its liquidity position and the
Group’s working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-
case basis that requires the judgment and experience of
the management.

The details of ECL measurement for trade and other
receivables are set out in note 32.4 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 March 2021, ECL allowance
of HK$1,346,000 (31 March 2020: HK$405,000) was
recognised on these debtors.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue
recognition, if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows:

16. E 5 & Hfb E U FIE ()
(a) EZEWFEIE

AEERERBRFIRHE28F45K(Z
TEF 28R 45K)EFHE - EHE
REEERENEZEWFIEMS -
AEBBERBENZTOHARERF
ERE AT R(EFPRE)RFHNE
BESL - REEeh iR AEREE
BT RERE  HIzERIBRMA
FrAE - WAKSEEIERE A RE

EHE S R EMERFBNTEREER
EBEFEFBHRGA T BHREM T
R4 - RZT_—F=A=+—8 -
E Rz R R SRR 1,346,000/ 7T
—E-ZTF=A=+—H : 405,000
BT MBHEEEERE -

RIFEZ A (TR A - U
BERE)  BHRYGTAHIRASRIE
EERBENRESNAOT

2021 2020
—E-—F ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAT
0 — 30 days 0Z 30K 44,485 65,570
~ 60 days 31Z560% - 5,764
- 90 days 61290K - -
Over 90 days BiBI0R 2,841 7,043
47,326 78,377

The movement in the ECL allowance on trade receivables is B P RBGENTEREEEEREE

as follows:

E N

2021 2020

:$:_$ — 7 —= g

HK$'000 HK$'000

THx FET

Balance as at 1 April KRB —HB&EH 405 =
ECL allowance recognised FABANTEREEEEEE

during the year 941 405

Balance as at 31 March ZA=t+—HrEH 1,346 405

2020/21 FERE o EFEEERBRAAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. E 5 Kk H A EWFEIE @)

(b) Amount due from a director/the ultimate (b) EW—REE BRERLA
holding company M
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and ERFEAERT - 8 RERENX
repayable on demand. B -
Particulars of amounts due from a director and the R BB D GBI ZE383(1)(d) 154 &
ultimate holding company, disclosed pursuant to section WK —ZEEREEERABINR
383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as THFBIT
follows:
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 31 March
2021 during the year 2020
—B-—-F FARS —ECTE
=HA=+—H 5 AR EE R IE =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET T
Mr. Yip B4 2,564 2,564 2,029
Fame Circle (note) Fame Circle(Fff5E) 110 110 110
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=1+—H8&EE 2,674 2,139
Note: Fame Circle is wholly owned by Mr. Yip and Mr. Yip is the MizE : Fame Circle B E L2 BHA RE
sole director of Fame Circle. S AFame CircleME—E= 5 -

17. FINANCIAL ASSET AT AMORTISED COST 17. REBERATRNEMEE

2021 2020

—B--f —ZTCTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Certificates of Deposit (“CDs"), pledged B #EiH1ERE ([1F7E ) 16,483 -
As at 31 March 2021, the CDs is denominated in RZBEZ—F=A=+—H  FHGFXE
RMB13,928,000 earns coupon interest of 2.3% per annum NARBEE @EAARK 13,928,000
and mature on 24 February 2022. TT  ABF2.3% M REH REREUR R - I

MRZEZZF A=+ HEEE -
No impairment loss has been recorded in relation to the CDs HRBETAEESEETH - Fibgime
since the issuer’s credit rating is high. FERFRERBORERS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES
18.1 Contract assets

18. EHNEEREGNAE

181 6HEE

2021 2020
—E- &

HK$'000 HK$ (0]00]
FET T
Unbilled revenue REEB W 79,041 90,588
Retention receivables JERRE & 52,734 36,289
Less: ECL allowance B B E B RS IERHE (711) (581)
131,064 126,296

Note: 5T

Unbilled revenue represents the Group's right to receive
consideration for work completed and not yet billed because the
rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on
the construction work completed by the Group and the work is
pending for the certification by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group obtains
the certification of the completed construction work from the
customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent
certified contract payments in respect of works performed,
for which payments are withheld by customers for retention
purposes, and the amount retained is withheld on each payment
up to a maximum amount calculated on a prescribed percentage
of the contract sum.

Changes of contract assets during the year ended 31 March 2021
were mainly due to:

(i)  Changes in retention receivables as a result of an increase
in number of ongoing and completed contracts during the
year; and

(i)  Changes in number of contract works that the relevant
services were completed but yet been certified at the end
of each reporting period.

The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry
date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group
on the service quality of the construction work performed by the
Group. The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered/
settled over one year is HK$12,041,000 (31 March 2020:
HK$27,251,000), all of the remaining balances were expected to
be recovered/settled within one year.

AREBWHEANEEGERD T T ITREIK
MAREERKFEFBEGEFPEANRER
e ERTREAEERIREGRF
REMEAFAELKEE - E"%*‘Jﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬂi
B AREENEREE 5 EKGIE

%E$%I?§?§@?§EEIE£I&E’J

R o

FARKEENRBRRE SHE RN TE

W—J/\%’Jﬁm RN A OELE=E-Ikt
BiERE S - MEENFEMRENEE
%%ﬁﬁiéﬁ%@%ﬁ%;ﬁﬁ DELETE -

REBE-Z-_—F=A=+—RHItFE "
BREERHEEMAN ¢

() FRETTFREZKEHNEEE
- EHRKRESHRED &

() REREEK - AEREE SRE R
ZEHADTROKE HRE -

RIERIRK BEGITR  ANEENERES
BEoRWFIE - —MAREEREETH
BRETIRNREE ZREHRE Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BHIRS - FEES N BB —F kB EE
BHREERTEF12,041 000%7:(_%:;E
F=H=+—H :27,251,000/%&7) ' FTE
HEBTEEIE R — AUk E A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
18.1 Contract assets (continued)

The details of ECL measurement for contract assets are set
out in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Based on ECL assessment, ECL allowance of HK$711,000
(2020: HK$581,000) has been recognised as at 31 March
2021.

18. EHNEERENEE®

181 EHNEE @
ERHAEANEETRSEEBENF
BENGRA T HIRERWE32.4 - IR
BHEEBETG  RZ2T=—F=
A=+—HE®R711,0008T (==
—Z4F : 581,000/ T ) WIB R E &
1BREE -

The movement in the ECL allowance on contract assets BREENTRREEEEREBENED
are as follows: N
2021 2020
—E--F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHx FAT
Balance as at 1 April MO A— B8R 581 =
ECL allowance recognised FABANTEREEEEEE
during the year 130 581
Balance as at 31 March R=A=+—HW#E# 71 581

18.2 Contract liabilities

BEANBHIRNK
EEMAHAR

Contract liabilities arising from
construction contracts from billings
in advance of performance

182 6HERE

2021
—B-—F

2020
—Z-FTF

HK$'000
TAT

HK$°000
FRT

180 690

All of the contract liabilities is expected to be recovered/
settled within one year.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included 5t AFHIA 4B (EAEERH
in the contract liabilities balance B R
at the beginning of the year

FrEaHEBERPEN—FARlkE,/

o
% A

ERRENE E W

2021
—E-—F

2020
—ZT-TF
HK$'000
FAT

HK$°000
TRT

690 1,021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
18.2 Contract liabilities (continued)
Unsatisfied long-term construction contracts

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligation as
at 31 March are as follows:

Within one year —FA

18. EHNEERENEE®

182 EHNEE®@®
FBHRIRABESA
R=ZA=+—8  pE*ELHkE
HABUNBRTBAEEIHZHEE
N

2021 2020
B —F

—ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHEL

340,984 710,637

The amounts disclosed above do not include transaction
price allocated to performance obligations which have
been satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable
consideration constraint.

19. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

Cash, bank balances and pledged

Be  RITHEBHLEERER

EXWENRBETNBESEREERE
%ﬁlﬁT“ﬁF@ﬂﬁh*%ﬁw
MEHE TR ZEIE

19. BE - |RITEBRRESEREFRK

2021 2020
—E-—fF

— ? —= i
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT

deposits 44,255 72,035
Less: bank deposits, pledged B BEIRRITIER (5.216) (24,386)
Cash and cash equivalents per the meHeRERBETHNRE R

consolidated statement of cash flows  H&ZEY 39,039 47,649

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Pledged bank deposits earn effective interest rate at 0.01%
(2020: 0.10%) per annum and have a maturity of 2 month or
less. They have been pledged to secure bank facilities (note 21).

The directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are
not materially different from their carrying amounts, because
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.

RITRSREBRITERN KL ZEH X
BRELH S o

BRI ERIZ001% (T —ZF ¢
0.10% ) B F) = BREXF 2. - AR {E A 5 A
TEE o SRITHFRIEREEURTTRLE A
R (HIRE21) ©

EERn RORSHLAFEEEKEE
BE  AR%EEHERGERAEEN
2| HAHAR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. E 5 RH MBS RKRIE
2021 2020
—E--F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T THAT
Trade payables (note (a)) B 5 IE (M 5E@)) 32,207 56,127
Accruals and other payables (note (b))  FE&TE A & H b 1< 508 (i 5E(b)) 4,123 2,570
36,330 58,697
Notes: 5T
(@) Payment terms granted by suppliers are 0 to 30 days (2020: 0 to (@ HEFRTHONKBRABEHEEEESR
30 days) from the invoice date of the relevant purchases. HEBFT0ZE30R(ZZ =T : 0£30K) ©
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is S EMNFIBIREZ B ENRR O T
as follows:
2021 2020
—B--F —ZTTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHET
0 - 30 days 0E30K 29,185 51,035
31 - 60 days 31E60X 3,022 4,944
61 —90 days 61290K - 148
32,207 56,127
(b) As at 31 March 2021, accruals and other payables mainly by R-EBE-_—F=ZA=+—H EFEBRAK
represent refund of Government grant of approximately Hth T RIE = Z 1A FABUR I Bh BV aR 5K
HK$1,357,000 (2020: nil) and accrued employee benefits of #91,357,000/8 0 ( ZF=F4F : &) RFERT
approximately HK$ 1,058,000 (2020: HK$1,053,000). EE1@7F1%71,058,0008 L( =T =2 F :
1,053,000/ 7T) °
() All trade and other payables are denominated in HKS$. (0 FBEESNEMEMNKESNETHE -
(d) All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of d) FEFREBEARES Bt AEENES
the Group’s trade payables and accruals and other payables are FE ST FRIE DA K FE S B PR % EAth P& < FRIE Y
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. REEREAEATESEES °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2 —F - —F = HA=+—HIFEF

21. BORROWINGS, SECURED

At 31 March 2021, the secured bank loans were repayable as
follows:

Bank loans repayable on demand
(note (a))

21. BIRHER

R-E-_—#=A=+—8 BAEENE
PIRRITEROT ¢

2021
g

HK$°000 HK$'000
TRET TAT

e EREEMIRITER(MFEQ))

11,387 18,375

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2021, the bank loans are interest-bearing at 4.73%
10 4.76% (31 March 2020: 4.73% to 4.76%) per annum.

At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the banking facilities of
the Group were secured by:

(1)  Corporate guarantee given by the Company;

(2) Charges on the property owned by the Group (note 14);

(3) Charges on the financial asset at amortised cost (note 17);

(4) Charges on certain bank deposits (note 19) made by the
Group.

F5E

(@ R-ZBE-_—F=A=+—8 " £17Ex%
FREL4T73%EA76% (T _FTF=A
=+—H :473%2476%):T 8 °

b)) RZE——FR-_ZF-_TFE=-F=+—
A AEERNBITHESBUTHRER

(1) AAFRHEAIEEER
(2) AEEMEEWEEE14)ZHFT

() IRESHERATIRNEREEIRE17)
2R

@) AEEEETRTER(HRE19) 23R
iC e
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22. HERE
The analysis of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: AEEHEEESTAT :
2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-THE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Total minimum lease payments: SEEEN LR :
Within one year —FR 738 492
After one year but within two years —F1& - BERMFA 492 =
1,230 492
Future finance charges R E R (21) (6)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 1,209 486
Present value of minimum SEEENHKIRE :
lease payment:
Within one year —FR 720 486
After one year but within two years —F1& - BERMFA 489 -
1,209 486
Less: Portion due within one year W —FEREERER S
included under current liabilities (BIRRENEEA) (720) (486)
Portion due after one year included R—F &2 HE
under non-current liabilities (PIRIERENBERA) 489 =
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cash outflows HE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—RH1tFE A
for the leases are HK$737,000 (2020: HK$3,100,000). EMRE ML AT RT37,0008 T (=T =

Z4F : 3,100,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F = —#F = =+—HIFFE

DEFERRED TAXATION

The net movement in deferred tax liabilities and recognised in
the consolidated statement of the financial position during the
year are as follows:

23. BRI E
iR IS HRR & A RE 22 48 PO B IE B 1B

NN

BESESFELT

Accelerated tax
depreciation

MEBIEFTE

HK$'000
TAT

As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFWMA—H 4,798
Recognised in profit or loss (note 9) PIBEFER(BE9) 976
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZZBE_TF=A=+—HK

—ZE_ZTFMOA—H 5,774
Recognised in profit or loss (note 9) i8R (MEE9) (701)
As at 31 March 2021 R=—ZE-_—-f=A=+-—H 5,073

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$37,726,000
(2020: HK$10,881,000) to carry forward against future

NEEHF37,726,0008 T (ZE-F
10,881,000 7T ) E’JﬂiﬁEMRIEEﬂa‘I

taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under current 2 PUIKS R R ER U A o IRIRIREE X
legislation. Bl - ZERAREL TE R o
SHARE CAPITAL 24. BN
2021 2020
—B--F it St 23
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RG#E TR RiA%A FAT
Authorised: EE
Asat 1 April and 31 March WHA—BR=A=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000  10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER
Asat 1 April and 31 March WHA—BR=A=1+—H 1,200,000,000 12,000  1,200,000,000 12,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % — —F=H=A—HIFE

25. RESERVES 25. f#E

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
of the consolidated financial statements.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds received
from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Other reserve

Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal values of the share capital of subsidiaries acquired
by the Group and the nominal value of the Company’s share
issued under the Group’s Reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
in connection with the listing of its shares on the Stock
Exchange. Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the
paragraph headed “Reorganisation” in the section headed
“History and Development” in the Company’s prospectus dated
26 January 2018.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & —F=HA=+—HIFE

FFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26. &2 A B R T
THE COMPANY

2021 2020
—E--F ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHBIL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HERAER
Non-current asset FREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHB AR E 15 143,765 143,765
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H e U ERIA 180 245
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ I NGIE O] 77,737 80,824
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 8,225 8,223
86,142 89,292
Current liability RBEE
Other payables H e FRIE (1,409) (1,315)
Net current assets RBEEFE 84,733 87,977
Net assets EEFRE 228,498 231,742
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital [N 24 12,000 12,000
Reserves s 216,498 219,742
Total equity R 228,498 231,742
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
BEBEREE RIREEE
Director Director
EE EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B8 —F - —F = H=+—HIFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26. &2 BB AR R T @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RARIRENEESNT
Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserve loss Total
RADEE HibfEE RitEBE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR AT TAT TR
Balance as at as at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—-A & 96,898 143,371 (17,037) 223,232
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FREBR 2 EEEAE
for the year - - (3,490) (3,490)
Balance as at 31 March 2020and R=-Z-EF=A=1+-AR
as at 1 April 2020 “E-ZENA-A2ER 96,898 143,371 (20,527) 219,742
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FREERZEEEASR
for the year - - (3,244) (3,244)
Balance as at 31 March 2021 R-B--%=A=t—-H
ZEERR 96,898 143,371 (23,11) 216,498
Note: Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between MizE : AD T EHAEEREA AR FTREN B AR

the total equity of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and
the nominal value of the Company’s share issued under the
Reorganisation.
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27. LEASE COMMITMENTS

28.

As lessor

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the future aggregate minimum
lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
of the Group’s investment property are receivables as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
n-ﬁé

B ¥ #haR By 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F = H=+—HIFFZF

27. HEEE
EBEHBEA

KRB —FR_FT_TEF=ZA=+—
B AEEREEMERBENTRELE
FRE M R 2 & R (K F & fE U sk 48 KR 40

T
2021 2020
—E-—f —T_FF
HK$'000 HK$’'000
TERT TAT
Within one year —&R 56 156
After one year but within two years —&1& - ERMER - 56
56 212

The Group leases its investment property (note 14) under
operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period of
one to two years (2020: one to two years), with an option to
renew the lease terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually

agreed between the Group and the respective tenant. BRI -
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28. EAEIE
2021
—EBE-—F
HK$’000
FHT
Contracted but not provided for: EHELEES T
— Property, plant and equipment —W - W RERE 1,680

AEBAZEHERE T HBEREME (W
i14) AR —EMF(ZT_FF :
—EmF) - HESSNEEER A=A
SEEABEALHEN B MEEHEE KK

2020
—ET-TF

HK$'000
THET

2020/21 FERE o ERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFZF

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29.

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere
in this report, the Group had the following transactions with its
related parties during the year.

Key management personnel remuneration

BBLX5

BRARSHEMMTAFRER RS 2
S AEBERFRREBB A ETATR
% o

TEEBEAEME

The emoluments of the directors and senior management of HE_Z-_—FR-ZF_TF=A=+—
the Company, who represent the key management personnel EIJJ:EE ARREERERERE(RE
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as EEBAS)MEMT :
follows:
2021 2020
:E:_ﬁ — ? —= ¢
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
Salaries, fee and allowances e e kR 3,469 3,081
Discretionary bonuses (RN 261 261
Retirement benefit scheme contributions EREFIFHEI K 72 72
3,802 3,414
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. HAEE

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has been involved in
a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against the
Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-compliances.
The potential claims and litigations against the Group, as a
subcontractor, are insured by main contractor’s insurance
policy, the directors are of the opinion that the claims,
litigations and non-compliances are not expected to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements, and
the outcome for potential claims is uncertain. Accordingly,
no provision has been made to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 31. REZHESANEEZYHEE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing REBRETHMELEABCEH A HE
activities can be classified as follows: s
Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
RITER HESE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR FHAT
At 1 April 2020 A—E_EFMA—H 18,375 486 18,861
Cash-flows: HER -
Capital element of lease rentals paid B FHEMREHE LTS - (722) (722)
Interest element of lease rentals paid &4 & £ HF| 85D - (15) (15)
Repayments BE (6,988) - (6,988)
Other changes: HAti2 5
Reassessment of lease term ERHHTEE - 1,445 1,445
Interest expense for lease liabilities ~ FAEABFIER% - 15 15
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—-H=ZA=+-—H 11,387 1,209 12,596
At 1 April 2019 R=ZT—hEmA—B 3,523 3,500 7,023
Cash-flows: BEeHm -
Capital element of lease rentals paid Eﬁfﬁfﬁ%ﬁ‘i\ﬁ'}ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ - (3.014) (3,014)
Interest element of lease rentals paid =T EFH ST S5 - (86) (86)
Proceeds g s0R 20,000 - 20,000
Repayments B& (5,148) = (5,148)
Other changes: HAt 25 :
Interest expense for lease liabilites ~ FAE & EFIEF% - 86 86
At 31 March 2020 R-E-_ZHF=F=1+—H 18,375 486 18,861
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F=H=+—HI F&E

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. i RAMEER ALEE
VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of AEERAFEEBBREFEASRIAM
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. 7¥<ﬁ*ﬁ7ﬁ‘“ﬂﬁﬁ o Hﬁ“ﬂ % B 1R IS R B
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest rate FERER - FER mu@Jﬁ%ﬂﬁ“ VN
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk %@E’J%“E‘iﬂﬁﬁﬁqﬁ B 5 ESH AREE
management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse WBRENBENFZEREZRR - Bk
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management ERTHAAEERSREEERNTELES
is carried out by the senior management of the Group and SHOME ©

approved by the board of directors.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk REBHZERBAERERRNEBETIEZ
management policies and practices used by the Group to % [ B AT R &Y B 7 [ B T TR ISR R 1B {1 3K
manage these risks are described below. E’\\TY
32.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities NITMEEREESE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated e MBI KRFBREERE T 5] $
statement of financial position relate to the following BEEMAELIEEH -

categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2021 2020
—BE--F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHIL
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: R SHR AT BR ) R R E 2 -
— Trade and other receivables — &5 hEMEWFIA 47,823 78,955
— Cash, bank balances and —R&  RITEBREEBER
pledged deposits 44,255 72,035
— Financial asset at amortised cost —IRBE SRR AT BRI S R B B 16,483 =
— Amount due from a director — e — %%%m& 2,564 2,029
— Amount due from the ultimate — R R AAZERR A RISRIE
holding company 110 110
111,235 153,129
Financial liabilities SEans
Financial liabilities measured RHESE AT EN SR AE ¢
at amortised cost:
— Trade and other payables —B S NEMERMFIA (36,330) (58,697)
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (1,209) (486)
— Borrowings, secured —HIEHER (11,387) (18,375)
(48,926) (77,558)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2 —F - —F = HA=+—HIFEF

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. i RAMEER ALEFE@m

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.2 Foreign currency risk

32.2 SME R B

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposures to currency risk arise from its cash at
bank and financial asset at amortised cost denominated in
RMB of HK$16,494,000 (2020: HK$15,410,000), which
is not the functional currency of the respective group
companies.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
loss after tax during the year and equity in regards to
the strength in the functional currencies of the group
companies against relevant currencies. Weakens in the
same % of functional currencies of the group companies
against relevant currencies will have equal and opposite
impact on the results of the year. The sensitivity rate
is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s best assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

INEE R IEINEIE R B BB RS mMT
BRAFEIARESRELFREHN
R - AEBEBNEBRRKER
AR (WIEEBESEARNNEER
BOFHERIRITIR & RIZ# A AT BR
ML R EE 16,494,000 T(ZE=-F
£ : 15,410,000/ 7T) °

TR B AR B F RR B 1R B 1R M
B RERAT YRR ER
THERNSRE - RE AR ZIEER
AHERER ZRAFESLRE/HF
NEEELHFERARNZE - B
BHERTAREEEERABREIN
ERRERBZLEE  AAEEEY
[ R AT RE R E) 2 BRIERTAE ©

Sensitivity Increase in Decrease
rate loss after tax in equity
BB %
BRELR =Bl B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FAT
31 March 2021 —E-—F
=A=+-—H
RMB AR 5% 689 (689)
31 March 2020 —ECEF
=A=+-—H
RMB AR 5% 643 (643)

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk at the end of the year has been determined
based on the assumed percentage change in foreign
currency exchange rates taking place at the beginning of
the financial year and held constant throughout the year.

RER - AN E PTEEINE R 2 87
BT HRBRINEERZESF L
R BREEEL R BFRGER T
MEE

2020/21 FEHE o HEKEEZERERQT

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % — —F=H=A—HIFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. i EAMREER AFEHTE @)

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.3 Interest rate risk 32.3 AR E bz

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises primarily from borrowings and lease
liabilities. Borrowings and lease liabilities bearing fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk and
the exposure to the Group is considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group bank
balances and pledged bank deposits are considered
immaterial.

FEEBESHTENA T ERRE
MEBEETSF RN B MK E

RERAEE - ARERNMERREZR
EFH&EE%L REEMETE
MNEREHEEABEFEAER@LE AT
1B 2 3\ B S 2 5 [ i 16 S A9 [ B 43¢
BAEILTEKX o

AEBRITEHRERRRITERD
AR E ARG BALTEK o

32.4 Credit risk NAEERKE

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the
ordinary course of its operations. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets is
limited to the carrying amount at 31 March 2021 and
2020 as summarised in note 32.1.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

As at 31 March 2021, for trade receivables, the
Group usually provide customers with a credit term
of 28 to 45 days (2020: 28 to 45 days). For the
settlement of trade receivables from provision of
construction services, the Group usually reaches
an agreement on the term of each payment with
the customer by taking into account of factors
such as, among other things, the credit history of
the customer, its liquidity position and the Group’s
working capital needs, which varies on a case-
by-case basis that requires the judgement and
experience of the management.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—# = H=+—HIFFF

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. BiBEAMREER AFEHTE @
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach for
trade receivables and contract assets to provide ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for these receivables
due from third parties. These evaluations focus on
the counterparty’s financial position, past history of
making payments and take into account information
specific to the counterparty as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue balance.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, individual credit
evaluation on significant customers is performed by
an independent valuer engaged by the management
to estimate the ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets. These evaluation focused on the customer
payment history and current and future ability for
payment taking into account the information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the current
and future general economic environment in which
the customer operated.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. At each reporting date, the historical
default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. The directors of the Group
reviewed and considered no irrecoverable amounts
should be taken account for the overdue trade
receivables balances as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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32.4 Credit risk (continued) 324 EE R B m)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. i EAMREER AFEHTE @)

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4 Credit risk (continued) 324 EE = B @)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)
At 31 March 2021, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 21% and 92% (2020: 41% and 100%)
of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group’s largest customer and five largest customers
respectively and the aggregate amounts of trade
receivables from the Group’s largest customer and
five largest customers amounted to HK$10,010,000
and HK$43,382,000 (2020: HK$32,175,000
and HK$78,377,000) of the Group’s total trade
receivables at 31 March 2021 respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has adopted
expected loss rate ranging from 0.001% to 31.30%
(2020: 0.13% to 1.27%) and 0.001% to 31.30%
(2020: 0.13% to 25.70%) on the gross carrying
amounts of the trade receivables and contract
assets amounted to HK$48,672,000 (2020:
HK$78,782,000) and HK$131,775,000 (2020:
HK$126,877,000), respectively. The loss allowance
of trade receivables and contract assets as at 31
March 2021 is HK$ 1,346,000 (2020: HK$405,000)
and HK$711,000 (2020: HK$581,000), respectively.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. Bi¥EREER AFENE@W
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.4 Credit risk (continued)
(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost

324 EER @)
(i) ZEEELSEZEMEH

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables and deposits, cash, bank balances,
financial asset at amortised cost and amounts due
from a director and the ultimate holding company.
In order to minimise the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits, the management make
periodic collective and individual assessment on their
recoverability based on historical settlement records
and past experience as well as available forward-
looking information. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken

HE

REERATEZEMNEMEE
PREEMERRERZS B
© - RITAETT - REHAAT R
NeMEERER—BEERE
IRIR A RIEIE o BRER b E
WREREENEERR @ B8
EeREBEEELERARL
B DA K ] (L 155 R A B S 14 2 et
B RRER A YL T2 fE (B E 8P
S RER MY o AEE IR
B H th BE 2R3 i LA R (R B R BR i

to recover overdue debts. In these regards, the credit ﬁ@J HEWEIBEER o BLutm
risk of other receivables and deposits are considered  EEMRIAE IR NEE
to be low. ﬂ&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is AN - BERERRRFEMER
no significant increase in credit risk on these other RERES )Z;E'\Hﬂz REFEFA
receivables and deposits, amount due from a director WS KR A RRIBB U2

and amount due from the ultimate holding company
since initial recognition as the risk of default is low
after considering the factors as set out in note 2.6
and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12-month
ECL.

The credit risks on bank balances, pledged deposits
and financial asset at amortised cost are considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. i EAMREER AFEHTE @)

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.5 Liquidity risk 32.5 TR B [ B

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its
financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the
Group in meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities at 31
March 2021 and 2020. When the creditor has a choice
of when the liability is settled, the liability is included on
the basis of the earliest date on when the Group can be
required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is
in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest
period in which the Group is committed to pay.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT

7/|L§b’|ﬁ@££ﬁﬁ$%@*ﬁﬁ%f?ﬁgﬁi
UZNRESZ—eREEFENS
BREREREANRRER F~5H
NEEEZENRBRBETERMER
EFEUARRSREE R T EAZR
PESRR  AEBEMNBEZRRERFE
ERKFEHRBEE RIS Eﬂaﬁmﬁ
E - UnRRHBAERRSHES

EZO

ERERNBTEREREEAREED
BemETE) EU °

TXBRAEBRN-_BE-_—FR-F
—EFZA=t—HEBREIFTES
BEENSRTEOFTHINT o WER
ABHEEREEABENRHE  HES
E%F$EI%EI EN&T HE

Mt EFABENHEERE  §%
EWHF$EI% = (BB T HME
N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. iR MEER ALEEw@

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.5 Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities.

32.5 R Ep 1 R B ()
UTANIEAIMIERSREEY
REFRIEREMED -

On demand Over 1 year Total
or within but within  undiscounted Carrying
one year 5 years cash flow amount
BERH —F% AERRE
R—5R EBREFA BB WREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TAT TAT
At 31 March 2021 R-2Z-%
=R=t-H
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIE (36,330) - (36,330) (36,330)
Lease liabilities HEAR (738) (492) (1,230) (1,209)
Borrowings, secured (note) BEBER () (11,387) - (11,387) (11,387)
(48,455) (492) (48,947) (48,926)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-E2FE
=R=t-H
Trade and other payables B 5 LA ERNFIE (58,697) = (58,697) (58,697)
Lease liabilities HEAE (492) = (492) (486)
Borrowings, secured (note) FEMER(FE) (18,375) - (18,375) (18,375)
(77,564) - (77,564) (77,558)
Note: FieE

Secured borrowings of HK$11,387,000 (2020: HK$18,375,000)
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or within one year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
directors do not believe that it is probable that the bank will
exercise its discretionary right to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. At that time, the principal and interest cash
outflows computed using contractual rates with scheduled
repayment dates within one year time-band amounted to
HK$7,708,000, within second year time-band amounted to
HK$4,126,000, respectively (2020: within one year time-band
amounted to HK$7,708,000, within second year time-band
amounted to HK$7,708,000 and in the third to fifth year time-

band amounted to HK$4,126,000, respectively).

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets
in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash
resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash.
The Group's existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

MABERZREREEERROBEBER
11,387,000 7T ( == —Z4F : 18,375,000
BIC) T A LB HA D AT R Bk —F
ANIEEERA - ZEEAEBMAOTBMRR -
BERE  RIOTTAARETEERSES
KENEHER - EBRA - BRERITERS
RBERGEMETEERAEE - B
B SrEIERBHAE—FUARMENUR
MRS MIZOTENERFEZFER SR
#2845 Bl #5532 7,708,000 7T K 4,126,000
BLT(ZZE_2F : ;FEERBHRE—F
A MELRAR =21 FHNEEANIE
2 Bl1#£ 7,708,000 7t + 7,708,000 7T &
4,126,00087T) °

AEERFEMEERDESRREEE
BRESHMEENRBRERE - LEE
AERELReNRSERLEMREE
E - AKEBREANREERREMRSE
ENSRREBARS MR ENEHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F =—#F = H=+—HIFFZF

32.

33.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.6 Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The carry amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair values
at 31 March 2021 and 2020 due to their short maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
an adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio is
calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total equity
as at the end of each reporting period and multiplied by 100%.
Total borrowings include bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. In view of this, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

32.

33.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 —F - —F = H=+—HIFFZF

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting date was:

33. EXREE @)

REREBHRNEERBLERE

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E-THE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAT

Total borrowings Ep/EE]
Borrowings, secured B3k - B 11,387 18,375
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,209 486
12,596 18,861
Total equity iR 247,928 268,038
Gearing ratio EEABHE 5.1% 7.0%

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have no other material events occurring after 31 March
2021 and up to date of this report.

34. HEWKREE

R-E-_—F=A=1+—BREEZEARE

BE - HiEBEEERAEMEREE -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M ERBIE

The financial summary of the Group for the last five years is set as

follows:

AEEBERFHOMBHEFIMT -

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“BE--§ C-Z-%F CZEZ-NEF E-\F CZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x T FHT T FET
Revenue e 922,888 509,298 458,174 805,716 593,572
Direct costs ERRA (936,164) (504,127) (425,750) (708,568) (522,078)
Gross (loss)profit (E8)/E5 (13,276) 5,171 32,424 97,148 71,494
Other gains/(losses), net Ethlls/ (B18) - 38 15,450 (925) 84 2,110 952
Administrative expenses THES (21,143) (21,564) (19,848) (34,861) (14,355)
ECL allowance on trade receivablesand ~ Z ZEWFERANEEN
contract assets RHEEHERE (1,071) (986) = = =
Finance costs BIERRAR (771) (817) (297) (299) (691)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETERAI(BR) /i A (20,811) (19,121) 12,363 64,008 57,400
Income tax credit/(expense) FiskiEe,/ (%) 701 (976) (2,530) (13,070) (10,063)
(Loss)profit and total comprehensive FE(BR)/BFLER
(expense)/income for the year (Bx%)/ A8 (20,110) (20,097) 9,833 51,028 47337
(Loss)/earnings per share AARRERSE AEG
attributable to equity holders GR(EB8)/ B :
of the Company:
Basic and diluted ERRES (1.68) cents fll  (1.67) cents il 0.82 centsfll 541 centsfll  5.26 cents

As at 31 March

R=B=t-AH

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“R--f R-RE B “E\f —BtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x TET FEL T FEL

Assets and Liabilities BELEE
Non-current assets EMBEE 52,578 69,644 62,043 27,251 17,544
Current assets MEAE 249,529 282,416 268,242 302,956 149,716
Non-current liabilities EnBERE 5,562 5,774 4,798 4,380 5,789
Current liabilities MEAE 48,617 78,248 37,352 47,525 43,091
Total equity Fay 3 247,928 268,038 288,135 278,302 118,380

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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